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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ARTELO BIOSCIENCES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share data)

June 30, December 31,
2025 2024
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,066 $ 2,338
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 167 219
Total Current Assets 2,233 2,557
Operating lease right-of-use assets 82 99
Intangible asset 2,039 2,039
Other assets 3 3
TOTAL ASSETS $ 4357 § 4,698
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 4,841 § 1,676
Accrued interest — convertible notes 18 -
Due to related parties 26 61
Operating lease liabilities - current portion 36 35
Convertible notes 791 -
Total Current Liabilities 5,712 1,772
Operating lease liabilities 51 69
TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,763 1,841
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock, par value $0.001, 69,445 shares authorized, 0 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and December 31,
2024 - -
Common Stock, par value $0.001, 8,333,333 shares authorized and 704,425 and 567,582 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30,
2025, and December 31, 2024, respectively 1 1
Additional paid-in capital 54,617 53,194
Accumulated deficit (55,729) (50,136)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (295) (202)
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY (1,406) 2,857
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 4357 8§ 4,698
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Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

OPERATING EXPENSES

General and administrative

Research and development
Total Operating Expenses

Loss from Operations

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Interest income

Interest expense

Net change in fair value of trading marketable securities
Total other income

Provision for income taxes

NET LOSS

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Basic and Diluted Loss per Common Share

Basic and Diluted Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding

ARTELO BIOSCIENCES, INC.

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Three months ended

Six months ended

June 30, June 30,
2025 2024 2025 2024

$ 1,279 $ 827 $ 2,274 $ 1,909
1,871 1,685 3,255 3,192

3,150 2,512 5,529 5,101
(3,150) 2,512) (5,529) (5,101)

1 - 8 -

(72) - (72) -

- 79 - 185

(71) 79 (64) 185
$ (3,221) $ (2,433) $ (5,593) $ (4,916)
(68) - (93) -

(68) - 93) -
$ (3,289) $ (2,433) $ (5,686) $ (4,916)
$ (5.61) $ 4.52) $ (9.80) $ 9.17)
574 538 571 536
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Balance, December 31, 2024

Common shares issued for cash
Stock based compensation

Net loss for the period

Other comprehensive loss
Balance, March 31, 2025

Common shares issued for cash, net of issuance costs

Stock based compensation
Net loss for the period
Other comprehensive loss
Balance, June 30, 2025

Balance, December 31, 2023

Common shares issued for cash
Stock based compensation

Net loss for the period
Balance, March 31, 2024

Stock based compensation
Net loss for the period
Balance, June 30, 2024

ARTELO BIOSCIENCES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity

(Unaudited)
(In thousands)
Accumulated
Additional Other
Common stock Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Capital Deficit Income (loss) Total
567 1 $ 53194 3§ (50,136) $ (202) 2,857
- - 192 - - 192
- - - 2,372) - 2,372)
- - - - (25) (25)
567 1 $§ 53386 $ (52,508) $ (227) 652
137 - 1,081 - - 1,081
- - 150 - - 150
- - - (3,221) - (3,221)
- - - - (68) (68)
704 1 $§ 54617 $ (55,729) $ (295) (1,406)
Accumulated
Additional Other
Common stock Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Capital Deficit Income (loss) Total
532 1 $ 52264 $ (40,310) $ (203) 11,752
6 - 55 - - 55
- - 213 - - 213
- - - (2,483) - (2,483)
538 1 $§ 52532 % (42,793) $ (203) 9,537
- - 195 - - 195
= - - (2,433) - (2,433)
538 1 $ 52727 §$ (45,226) $ (203) 7,299
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss

ARTELO BIOSCIENCES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Stock-based compensation

Net change in fair value of trading marketable securities

Non-cash lease expense

Amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable - related parties

Accrued interest

Fixed cash payments related to operating leases
Net cash used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in trading marketable securities
Proceeds from disposition of marketable securities

Net cash provided by investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common shares for cash, net
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes, net

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes

NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Initial recognition of the right-of-use asset and lease liability

Six months ended

June 30,
2025 2024

(5,593) $ 4,916)
342 408
- (185)

17 16

54 -

58 40
3,046 (368)
(36) 14

18 -
(17) (14)
2,111) (5,005)
- (481)

- 3,500

- 3,019
1,079 55
737 -
1,816 55
23 3)
(272) (1,934)
2,338 2,815

2,066 $ 881
-3 -
-3 _

- 8 111
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ARTELO BIOSCIENCES, INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

ARTELO BIOSCIENCES, INC. (“we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company”) is a Nevada corporation incorporated on May 2, 2011, and based in Solana Beach, California. The
accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), and the Company’s fiscal
year end is December 31.

The Company registered wholly owned subsidiaries in Ireland, Trinity Reliant Ventures Limited, on November 11, 2016, and in the United Kingdom (“UK”), Trinity Research
& Development Limited, on June 2, 2017. On January 8, 2020, Trinity Research and Development Limited changed its name to Artelo Biosciences Limited. The Company
incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary in Canada, Artelo Biosciences Corporation, on March 18, 2020. Operations in the subsidiaries have been consolidated in the financial
statements.

The Company is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing therapeutics that target lipid-signaling pathways, including treatments intended to modulate
the endocannabinoid system (the “ECS”), a family of receptors and neurotransmitters that form a biochemical communication network throughout the body.

Going concern

The Company has incurred losses since inception and incurred a net loss of $,593 during the six months ended June 30, 2025. As of June 30, 2025, we had cash and cash
equivalents of $2,066.

In July 2023, the Company filed a $75,000 in aggregate value shelf registration statement on Form S-3 which became effective on July 14, 2023. The shelf registration
statement is effective for three years and permits the Company to sell, from time to time, up to $75,000 of the Company’s Common Stock, preferred stock, debt securities,
warrants, and/or units subject to a limit of one-third (1/3) of the Company’s public float within a twelve (12) month period if the public float of the Company is less than
$75,000 as of relevant measurement dates under applicable securities laws.

On May 1, 2025, the Company issued at-market, unsecured convertible notes with gross proceeds of $00. The convertible notes bear interest at12.0% and have a maturity of
180 days. The convertible notes are subject to voluntary and automatic provisions for conversion into the Company’s common stock, as well as conversion into warrants to
purchase the Company’s common stock for a five-year period at a price of $1.04. Certain members of the Company’s board of directors, an officer and consultants to the
Company acquired $350 of the convertible notes.

On June 24, 2025, Artelo Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with the purchasers named therein (the
“Purchasers™), for the private placement (the “Private Placement™) of (i) 136,843 shares (the “Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the
“Common Stock™), at $5.82 per share, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase 93,180 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $.001 per Share (the “Pre-Funded
Warrants™) at $5.819 per Pre-Funded Warrant, (iii) warrants to purchase 460,046 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.82 per share (the “$5.82 Warrants™), and
(iv) warrants to purchase 230,023 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per share (the “$10.00 Warrants”). The Pre-Funded Warrants, the $5.82 Warrants and
the $10.00 Warrants are collectively referred to herein as the “Warrants” and the shares issuable upon such Warrants, the “Warrant Shares.” Total gross proceeds were $ 1,425,
net proceeds were $1,079 after transaction costs of $346.

On July 18, 2025, the Company entered into an At-The-Market Offering Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with R.F. Lafferty & Co., Inc. (“R.F. Lafferty”) under which we

may offer and sell up to $6.5 million of shares of our common stock from time to time through an “at the market” offering program under which R.F. Lafferty will act as sales
agent. Under the Sales Agreement, the Company will set the parameters for the sale of shares, including the number or dollar amount of shares to be issued, the time period
during which sales are requested to be made, limitations on the number or dollar amount of shares that may be sold in any one trading day and any minimum price below which
sales may not be made. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Sales Agreement, R.F. Lafferty may sell the shares by methods deemed to be an “at the market” offering as
defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We have no obligation to sell any shares under the Sales Agreement and may at any time
suspend solicitation and offers under the Sales Agreement. The shares will be issued pursuant to the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form S-3, including the
prospectus supplement contained therein, which was declared effective by the SEC on July 14, 2023.

On August 4, 2025 the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement for an at-the market PIPE (private investment in public equity) for the purchase and sale of
securities at a price of $10.45, consisting of: (a) 906,687 shares of common stock (or pre-funded warrants in lieu thereof); (b) three-year warrants to purchase 906,687 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $10.20 per share; and (c) three-year warrants to purchase 906,687 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $50.00 per share, for
expected aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $9,475. The Company agreed that the net proceeds of the sale will be used to purchase SOL.
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To continue operations, the Company will be required to raise additional funds by completing additional equity or debt offerings or licensing our product candidates. There can
be no assurance that the Company will be successful in acquiring additional funding, that the Company’s projections of its future working capital needs will prove accurate, or
that any additional funding would be sufficient to continue operations in future years. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments to reflect the future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities if the Company is unable to continue as a
going concern.

Negative Global or National Events

Businesses have been and will continue to be impacted by a number of challenging global and national events and circumstances that continue to evolve, including tariffs, trade
disputes, pandemics, extreme weather conditions, increased economic uncertainty, inflation, interest rate fluctuation, recent and any potential future financial institution failures,
and conflicts in Eastern Europe, the Middle East and in other countries. The extent of the impact of these events and circumstances on our business, operations and development
timelines and plans remains uncertain, and will depend on certain developments, including the duration and scope of the events and their impact on our development activities,
third-party manufacturers, and other third parties with whom we do business, as well as its impact on regulatory authorities and our key scientific and management personnel.
We have been and continue to actively monitor the potential impacts that these various events and circumstances may have on our business, and we take steps, where warranted,
to minimize any potential negative impacts on our business resulting from these events and circumstances. The ultimate impact of these global and national events and
circumstances, either individually or in aggregate, is highly uncertain and subject to change.

Reverse stock split

On June 12, 2025, the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada a Certificate of Change (the “Certificate of Change”), pursuant to Nevada Revised
Statutes 78.209, to effect a one-for-six (1-for-6) reverse stock split (the “Reverse Split”) of the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock, par value $0.001 per share
(the “Common Stock™). The Reverse Split was effective as of 12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on June 13, 2025 (the “Effective Time”). Pursuant to the Nevada Revised Statutes
78.207, the Company’s board of directors has the authority to effect a reverse stock split without stockholder approval if the number of authorized shares of common stock and
the number of outstanding shares of common stock are proportionally reduced.

As aresult of the Reverse Split, each six (6) pre-split shares of Common Stock outstanding were automatically combined into one (1) new share of Common Stock without any
action on the part of the holders, and the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock will be reduced from 3,280,000 to approximately 546,667. The number of authorized
shares of common stock has been reduced from 50,000,000 to 8,333,333, while the number of authorized shares of preferred stock has been reduced from416,667 to 69,444.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and GAAP in the United
States of America. The accompanying interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP for interim financial information in accordance with Article 8
of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the Company’s opinion, all
adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three and six months ended June
30, 2025, are not necessarily indicative of the results for the full year. While management of the Company believes that the disclosures presented herein are adequate and not
misleading, these interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the footnotes thereto for the year ended December 31,
2024, contained in the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 3, 2025.
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All amounts in these financial statements, notes and tables have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, except share and per share amounts, unless otherwise indicated.
Basis of Consolidation

The financial statements have been prepared on a consolidated basis including the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, Trinity Reliant Ventures Limited, Artelo Biosciences
Limited and Artelo Biosciences Corporation. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Research and Development (“R&D”)

R&D expenses consist primarily of costs related to clinical studies and outside services, personnel expenses, and other R&D expenses. Clinical studies and outside services costs
relate primarily to services performed by clinical research organizations and related clinical or development manufacturing costs, materials, and supplies, filing fees, regulatory
support, and other third-party fees. Personnel expenses relate primarily to salaries and benefits. R&D expenditures are charged to operations as incurred.

The Company recognizes R&D tax credits received from the United Kingdom government for spending on R&D as an offset of R&D expenses. The Company received R&D
tax credits of $704 and $0 during the six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks, money market funds, commercial paper, and certificates of term deposits with maturities of less than three months from
inception, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which, in the opinion of management, are subject to an insignificant risk of loss in value. The Company
had $2,066 and $2,338 in cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, respectively.

Periodically, the Company may carry cash balances at financial institutions more than the federally insured limit of £50 per institution. The amount in excess of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance as of June 30, 2025, was approximately $1,566. The Company has not experienced losses on these accounts and management believes,
based upon the quality of the financial institutions, that the credit risk with regard to these deposits is not significant.

Marketable Securities

Our investments in debt securities are carried at fair value. Investments in debt securities that are not classified as held-to-maturity are carried at fair value and classified as
either trading or available-for-sale. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on trading debt securities are charged to income and unrealized gains and losses on available-for-
sale debt securities are included in other comprehensive income or loss. The marketable securities held by the Company, classified as trading marketable securities, had an
outstanding balance of $0 as of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024.

Intangible Assets

The Company capitalizes certain costs related to the acquisition of intangible assets. If such assets are determined to have a finite useful life they are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life.

The Company tests its intangible assets for impairment at least annually and whenever events or circumstances change that indicate impairment may have occurred. A
significant amount of judgment is involved in determining if an indicator of impairment has occurred. Such indicators may include, among others and without limitation: a
significant decline in the Company’s expected future cash flows; a sustained, significant decline in the Company’s stock price and market capitalization; a significant adverse
change in legal factors or in the business climate of the Company’s segments; unanticipated competition; and slower growth rates. The Company determined that there was no
impairment of its intangible assets at June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024.
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Foreign Currency Transactions

The Company has operations outside of the United States, which results in exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency rates. The financial risk arises from the
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the degrees of volatility in these rates. Currently the Company does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign
currency risk. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical rates and monetary assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates in effect at the end of the
year. Revenues and expenses are translated at average rates for the year. Gains and losses from translation of foreign currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are included
as other comprehensive income.

Financial Instruments

The Company follows ASU 2022-03, ASC Subtopic “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale

Restrictions” (“ASC 820"), which defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy
that distinguishes between (1) market participant assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent sources (observable inputs) and (2) an entity’s own
assumptions about market participant assumptions developed based on the best information available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs). The fair value hierarchy
consists of three broad levels, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (Level 3). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1

Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets); or model-derived
valuations in which significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data.

Level 3

Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of the fair value of the assets
or liabilities.

The carrying amounts shown of the Company’s financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable approximate fair value due to the short-term
maturities of these instruments.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock option awards at the date of grant, which requires the input of highly subjective
assumptions, including expected volatility and expected life. Changes in these inputs and assumptions can materially affect the measure of estimated fair value of our share-
based compensation. These assumptions are subjective and generally require significant analysis and judgment to develop. When estimating fair value, some of the assumptions
will be based on, or determined from, external data and other assumptions may be derived from our historical experience with stock-based payment arrangements. The
appropriate weight to place on historical experience is a matter of judgment, based on relevant facts and circumstances. The Company accounts for forfeitures of stock options
as they occur.
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Net Loss per Share of Common Stock

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is computed
based on the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock plus the effect of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the treasury stock
method and as if converted method. Dilutive potential common shares include outstanding stock options and warrants.

For the six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024, the following Common Stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as the result was
anti-dilutive.

June 30, June 30,
2025 2024
Stock options 128,976 127,184
Warrants 806,564 23,315
Pre-funded warrants 93,180 -
1,028,720 150,499

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate and discrete information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker
(“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company’s CODM is its chief executive officer. The Company’s CODM evaluates the
Company’s operations and manages its business as a single operating segment. All of the Company’s long-lived assets are held in the United States. Refer to Note 3 for the
Company’s disclosure on its single operating segment.

New Accounting Standards Adopted

There were no new accounting standards adopted during the six months ended June 30, 2025.

NOTE 3 - SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments comprised of the components of an entity in which separate information is available for evaluation by the Company’s chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”), or group of decision makers, in determining how to allocate resources in evaluating performance. The Company consists of a single reporting segment: life science.
The life science segment is comprised of the Company’s development of therapeutics that target lipid-signaling modulation pathways, including the endocannabinoid system
(the “ECS”), a network of receptors and neurotransmitters that form a biochemical communication system throughout the body. The Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive
Officer.

The accounting policies of the life science segment are as described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The CODM evaluates the performance of the life science
segment based on the Company’s net loss as reported on the income statement as consolidated net loss. The Company’s segment assets are reported on the balance sheet as its
total consolidated assets.

The Company has not generated any revenue since its inception and expects to continue to incur losses into the foreseeable future as it continues to conduct research and

development related activities through all stages of product development and clinical trials and subsequently seek approval from the respective regulatory authorities.
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The Company’s CODM utilizes cash forecast models to determine the Company’s investment in the life sciences segment. These models are reviewed regularly to monitor the
Company’s operating results and performance and compared to the Company’s cash-based forecasts.

Three months ended

June 30,
2025 2024
General and administrative
Employee and director compensation $ 232§ 230
Stock-based compensation 86 134
Professional fees 712 163
Other general and administrative @ 249 300
Total general and administrative 1,279 827
Six Months ended
June 30,
2025 2024
General and administrative
Employee and director compensation $ 471 $ 474
Stock-based compensation 200 273
Professional fees 1,037 553
Other general and administrative @ 566 609
Total general and administrative 2,274 1,909
Three months ended
June 30,
2025 2024
Research and development
Employee compensation $ 243§ 239
Stock-based compensation 65 61
Professional fees 2,194 1,373
Other research and development (b) (631) 12
Total research and development 1,871 1,685
Six Months ended
June 30,
2025 2024
Research and development
Employee compensation $ 476 $ 468
Stock-based compensation 143 135
Professional fees 3,204 2,346
Other research and development (b) (568) 243
Total research and development 3,255 3,192

(a)  Consists of sales and marketing, investor relations, travel and other office expenses.

(b)  Consists of supplies and other items used in research and development activities.




Table of Contents

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024, a company owned by the Senior Vice President, European Operations, provided consulting services totaling $1 1 and $4,
respectively. As of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, there was $1 and $1, outstanding, respectively.

During the six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024, a company significantly influenced by a director of a subsidiary of the Company provided professional services totaling
$55 and $74, respectively. As of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, there was 99 and $36 outstanding, respectively.

During the six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024, a company controlled by a director of a subsidiary of the Company provided professional services totaling 88 and $41,
respectively. As of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, there was $6 and $24 outstanding, respectively.

NOTE 5 - CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Between April 27, 2025, and May 1, 2025, the Company entered into Subscription Agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) with various investors (the “Investors”),
pursuant to which the Company issued convertible notes (the “Notes”) to the Investors in an aggregate principal amount of $900 (collectively, the “Notes Offering”). A portion
of the Notes shall be convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 (“Common Stock™), at the election of each Investor, pursuant to the Voluntary
Conversion (defined below) and the remaining portion of each Note shall be converted into warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock (each, a “Warrant”
and collectively, the “Warrants”). The sale and issuance of the Notes closed on May 1, 2025.

At the Maturity Date, the Investor may (at the Investor’s sole option) convert all of that certain unpaid portion of principal and accrued interest of the Investor’s Note into shares
of Common Stock (the “Voluntary Conversion”), specifically into that number of shares of Common Stock (the “Converted Shares™) equal to the unpaid principal balance and
any accrued interest of each Note divided by $7.74. The amount of principal balance and any accrued interest of each Note convertible pursuant to the Voluntary Conversion
shall be the number of Converted Shares multiplied by $6.24 (the “Minimum Price”). Should the Investor not elect Voluntary Conversion, such portion of the unpaid principal
balance and any accrued interest of each Note subject to Voluntary Conversion shall be immediately due and payable in cash.

The Notes will accrue interest at a rate of12% per annum, which will adjust to 20% upon an Event of Default (as defined in the Notes). All unpaid principal, together with any
then unpaid and accrued interest and other amounts payable thereunder, shall be due and payable 180 days after the closing of the Notes Offering (the “Maturity Date”).

Upon the closing of the notes, the Company recorded deferred debt costs of $163 associated with transaction costs of the convertible notes. As of June 30, 2025, the net
carrying value of the convertible notes is $791 which includes principal of $900 and deferred debt costs of $109. During the six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company
recorded interest expense of $72 associated with the accretion of accrued interest of $18 and $54 amortization of deferred debt costs.

NOTE 6 - EQUITY

Preferred shares

The Company has authorized 69,445 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.001 per share.

As of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, there were no shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding.

Common Shares

The Company has authorized 8,333,333 shares of Common Stock with a par value of $0.001 per share. Each share of Common Stock entitles the holder to one vote, in person
or proxy, on any matter on which an action of the stockholders of the Company is sought.

As of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, there were704,425 and 567,582 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding, respectively.

On June 26, 2025, the “Company completed a private placement (the “Private Placement”) of (i)136,843 shares (the “Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value
$0.001 per share (the “Common Stock™), at $5.82 per share, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase 93,180 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $.001 per Share (the
“Pre-Funded Warrants™) at $5.819 per Pre-Funded Warrant, (iii) warrants to purchase 460,046 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.82 per share (the “$5.82
Warrants™), and (iv) warrants to purchase 230,023 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per share (the “$10.00 Warrants”). The Pre-Funded Warrants, the
$5.82 Warrants and the $10.00 Warrants are collectively referred to herein as the “Warrants” and the shares issuable upon such Warrants, the “Warrant Shares.”
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Each Share or, at the election of the Purchaser in lieu of Shares, each Pre-Funded Warrant, was issued and sold along with two (2) $5.82 Warrants and one (1) $10.00 Warrant.
The combined purchase price for the securities was (i) $6.195 per Share of Common Stock and three accompanying Warrants and (ii) $6.194 per Pre-Funded Warrant and three
accompanying Warrants. The Private Placement closed on June 26, 2025 (the “Closing Date™). Total gross proceeds were 4,425, net proceeds were $1,079 after transaction
costs of $346.

Warrants

A summary of activity of the warrants during the six months ended June 30, 2025, is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted
Number of Average Average
shares Exercise Price Life (years)

Outstanding, December 31, 2024 23315 §$ 67.50 0.79
Granted 783,249 6.36 5.00
Expired - - -
Exercised - - -
Outstanding, June 30, 2025 806,564 $ 8.12 4.85

The intrinsic value of the warrants as of June 30, 2025, is $5,416. All of the outstanding warrants are exercisable as of June 30, 2025.
2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended

On February 28, 2025, the number of shares available under the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2018 Plan”) was increased by80,693 shares of
Common Stock.

As of June 30, 2025, the 2018 Plan permits the Company to issue up to an aggregate of335,564 shares of Common Stock of which 206,588 shares are available to be issued.

The following is a summary of stock option activity during the six months ended June 30, 2025:

Weighted
Options Outstanding Average
Weighted
Number of Average Remaining life
Options Exercise Price (years)
Outstanding, December 31, 2024 128,976  $ 11.02 7.76
Granted - - -
Exercised - - -
Forfeited/canceled - - -
Outstanding, June 30, 2025 128,976 $ 11.02 7.26
Exercisable options, June 30, 2025 54,629 § 13.69 7.10
Valuation

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes model to value its stock options.

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company granted40,676 options, valued at $299 of which 17,169 options, valued at $129, were for related parties. As of June
30, 2025, $671 remains unamortized, of which $463 is for related parties. The intrinsic value of options outstanding as of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, is $26 and
$0, respectively.
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NOTE 7- INTANGIBLE ASSET

The Company has capitalized the costs associated with acquiring the exclusive worldwide license to develop and commercialize products comprising or containing the
compound ART27.13 as an intangible asset at a value of $2,039 as of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024.

The amount capitalized consisted of a $1,500 payment and the fair value of 681 shares of Common Stock of $539. During the six months ended June 30, 2025, no additional
costs met the criteria for capitalization as an intangible asset.

NOTE 8 - LEASE

On May 12, 2021, the Company entered into a lease arrangement for office space in the U.S. with Beckman/Lomas LLC, an entity controlled by a close family member of a
director. Effective June 1, 2022, the related party divested its interests in the property, and as such, the lease agreement no longer constitutes a related party transaction. On
March 6, 2024, the Company entered into an amended agreement with the landlord to extend the lease commencing in September 2024, and effective until August 2027.

The following summarizes right-of use asset and lease information about the Company’s operating leases as of June 30, 2025:

Six months ended

June 30,
2025 2024
Lease cost
Operating lease cost $ 17 8 16
Other information
Cash paid for operating cash flows from operating leases $ 17 3 14
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liability $ - 8 111
Weighted-average remaining lease term — operating leases (year) 2.08 333
Weighted-average discount rate — operating leases 7.50% 7.50%
Future minimum lease payments under the operating lease liability have non-cancellable lease payments at June 30, 2025, as follows:
Total

Year Ended December 31,
2025 $ 21
2026 43
2027 30
2028 -
Thereafter -

94
Less: Imputed interest 6)
Operating lease liabilities 88
Operating lease liability - current 38
Operating lease liability - non-current $ 50
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NOTE 9 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company has certain financial commitments relating to research and development contracts as of June 30, 2025, as follows:

The Company is invoiced monthly and quarterly in connection with several research and development contracts.
The Company may be obligated to make additional payments related to research and development contracts entered into, dependent on the progress and

milestones achieved through the programs.
The Company’s principal executive office is currently located at 505 Lomas Santa Fe Drive, Suite 160, Solana Beach, CA, US. Additionally, we have an office

outside Manchester, UK, which serves as administrative spaces for managing our subsidiaries, Trinity Reliant Ventures, Ltd (Ireland) and Artelo Biosciences
Limited (UK). We do not currently own any properties, laboratories, or manufacturing facilities. The Solana Beach lease runs through August 2027 and the
Manchester UK lease is month-to-month.

The Company agreed that $250 of the proceeds of the financing closed June 26, 2025, will be used to purchase SOL.

NOTE 10 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On August 4, 2025 the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement for an at-the market PIPE (private investment in public equity) for the purchase and sale of
securities at a price of $10.45, consisting of: (a) 906,687 shares of common stock (or pre-funded warrants in lieu thereof); (b) three-year warrants to purchas®06,687 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $10.20 per share; and (c) three-year warrants to purchase906,687 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.00 per share, for
expected aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $9,475. The Company agreed that the net proceeds of the sale will be used to purchase SOL.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that are based on management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to

management. Some of the statements in the sections captioned “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,”
“Business,” and elsewhere contain forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify these statements by terms such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,”

e 2 < ”» ” <

“expects,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” or the negative of these terms or other comparable expressions that convey
uncertainty of future events or outcomes, although not all forward-looking statements contain these terms. Unless otherwise noted, all amounts are expressed in United States
dollars (“USD”) and “we”, “us”, “our” and the “Company” refer to Artelo Biosciences, Inc., including its subsidiaries unless otherwise indicated.

These statements involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from the
information expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

our financial condition and our ability to continue as a going concern;

our plans to obtain funding for our operations, including funding necessary to complete our clinical trials, develop, manufacture and commercialize our product
candidates;

our Digital Asset Treasury strategy pursuant to which we anticipate purchasing the digital currency known as Solana (“SOL”);

our ability to raise any current or future funding to meet our capital requirements;

the expected timing of the initiation and completion of our clinical studies for our product candidates;

the size and growth of the markets for our product candidates;

our commercialization, marketing, and manufacturing capabilities and strategies;

geopolitical tensions, including tariffs and any war, regional conflict, or acts of terror, that can disrupt investment, supply chains and the economy generally;

our ability to compete with companies currently producing alternative treatment methods;

the cost, timing and outcomes of any potential litigation involving our product candidates;

regulatory developments in the U.S. and internationally;

the development, regulatory approval, efficacy and commercialization of competing product candidates;

our ability to attract and retain key scientific or management personnel;

the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our products and technology;
the terms and conditions of licenses granted to us and our ability to license additional intellectual property related to our product candidates, as appropriate;
potential claims related to our intellectual property;

the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;

our ability to regain and maintain compliance with Nasdaq listing requirements;

our ability to develop and maintain our corporate infrastructure, including our internal controls;

our cash investment strategy;

our ability to develop innovative new product candidates; and

our financial performance.
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Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance, or achievements to be materially
different from any future results, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We discuss these risks in greater detail in Part II,
Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements as a
representation or warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve our objectives and plans in any specified time frame, or at all. Also, forward-looking statements
represent our management’s beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

In addition, statements that include terms such as “we believe” and similar terms reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon
information available to us as of the date of this filing, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or
incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information.
These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

Our interim financial statements are stated in USD and are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”).
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes that appear elsewhere in this annual report. The following discussion
contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below and elsewhere in this annual report.

In this quarterly report, unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts are expressed in USD and all references to “Common Shares” refer to shares of our common stock.

As used in this annual report, the terms “we”, “us”, “our” and “our Company” mean Artelo Biosciences, Inc., and our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Trinity Reliant Ventures

>

Limited, in Ireland, Artelo Biosciences Limited, in England and Wales, and Artelo Biosciences Corporation, in Canada, unless otherwise indicated.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis provides information that our management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of Artelo Biosciences, Inc.s
(“Artelo” or the “Company”) condensed consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The discussion should be read together with the condensed consolidated
financial statements and the accompanying notes to those statements that are included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the audited financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 3, 2025. This discussion may contain
forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Artelos actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these
Sforward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in the section titled “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A as set forth in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.

General Overview

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of therapeutics that target lipid-signaling modulation pathways,
including the endocannabinoid system (the “ECS”), a network of receptors and neurotransmitters that form a biochemical communication system throughout the body.

Our product candidate pipeline broadly leverages leading scientific methodologies and balances risk across mechanisms of action and stages of development. Our programs
represent a comprehensive approach in utilizing the power and promise of lipid signaling to develop pharmaceuticals for patients with unmet healthcare needs. We are currently
developing a dual cannabinoid (CB) agonist that targets both the CB| and CB, receptors. This synthetic small molecule program is a G protein-coupled receptor (“GPCR”)
designated ART27.13. We are developing ART27.13 as a potential treatment for cancer-related anorexia in a Phase 1b/2a trial, titled the Cancer Appetite Recovery Study
(“CAReS”).

Our second program, ART26.12 is a small molecule and the lead product candidate from our chemical library of inhibitors of fatty acid binding proteins, notably Fatty Acid
Binding Protein 5 (“FABP5”). We received U.S. Food & Drug Administration (the “FDA”) clearance for our Investigational New Drug (“IND”) application for ART26.12 in

July 2024 and have completed enrollment to a Phase 1 clinical trial in healthy subjects to support the development towards an agent intended to treat chemotherapy-induced
peripheral neuropathy. In addition, ART26.12 may have broad applications as a cancer therapeutic, as a treatment for dermatologic conditions, such as psoriasis, as a treatment
for pain and inflammation, and potential use in anxiety-related disorders, including post-traumatic stress disorder.

We are also developing our own invention ART12.11 (the “CBD cocrystal”). ART12.11 is our patented solid-state composition of cannabidiol (“CBD”) and
tetramethylpyrazine (“TMP”). TMP serves as the coformer in the CBD cocrystal. ART12.11 may be considered by the regulatory authorities as a fixed drug combination
instead of a new chemical entity (“NCE”).

We obtained two of our patent protected product candidates through our in-licensing activities. Our first in-licensed program, ART27.13, is being developed for cancer-related
anorexia. ART27.13 is a peripherally-selective high-potency dual CB | and CB, full-receptor agonist, which was originally invented at AstraZeneca plc (“AstraZeneca”). We
exercised our option to exclusively license this product candidate through the NEOMED Institute (“NEOMED”), a Canadian not-for-profit corporation, renamed adMare
Bioinnovations (“adMare”) in June 2019, which had obtained rights to ART27.13 from AstraZeneca.

We commenced enrollment and dosed the first patient in CAReS, our Phase 1b/2a clinical study of cancer-related anorexia with ART27.13, in April 2021 and completed
enrolling patients in the Phase 1b during the first quarter of 2023. We initiated the Phase 2a portion of CAReS during April 2023. As of June 20, 2025, 15 clinical sites across
five countries were open to enrollment. We are on track to report initial data from the Phase 2 CAReS study of ART27.13, its peripherally acting cannabinoid receptor agonist,
in Q3 2025.
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Our second in-licensed patented program is being advanced from our platform of small-molecule inhibitors of fatty acid binding proteins, notably FABPS5. FABPS is believed to
specifically target and regulate one of the body’s endogenous cannabinoids, anandamide (“AEA”). We licensed the rights to world-wide intellectual property in all fields and
certain know-how to these inhibitors from Stony Brook University (“SBU”).

We are developing our product candidates in accordance with traditional regulated drug development standards and expect to make them available to patients via prescription or
physician orders only after obtaining marketing authorization from a country’s regulatory authority, such as the FDA. Our management team has experience developing,
commercializing, and partnering ethical pharmaceutical products, including several first-in-class therapeutics. Based upon our current management’s capabilities and the future
talent we may attract, we plan to retain rights to internally develop and commercialize products; however, we may seek collaborations with partners in the biopharmaceutical
industry when a partnering strategy serves to maximize value for our stockholders.

Since our inception, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and have incurred significant operating losses and negative cash flows from our operations. Our net
loss was $5.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025. As of June 30, 2025, we had cash and cash equivalents of $2.1 million. In order to continue operations, we will be
required to raise additional funds by completing additional equity or debt offerings or licensing our product candidates. We are currently pursuing various financing strategies.
There can be no assurance that we will be successful in acquiring additional funding, that our projections of our future working capital needs will prove accurate, or that any
additional funding would be sufficient to continue operations in future years. These conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one
year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the future
effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities if we are unable to continue as a going concern.
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Recent Developments

DAT Strategy. We have adopted a Digital Asset Treasury strategy whereby we will purchase the digital currencyknown as Solana (“SOL”). As of August 6,
2025, the Company has expended $250,000 to purchase SOL.

August 2025 Private Placement. On August 4, 2025, we entered into a securities purchase agreement for an at-the market PIPE (private investment in public equity)
for the purchase and sale of securities at a price of $10.45 per security, consisting of: (a) 906,687 shares of common stock (or pre-funded warrants in lieu thereof);
(b) three-year warrants to purchase 906,687 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $10.20 per share; and (c) three-year warrants to purchase 906,687
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $50.00 per share, for expected aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $9.475 million. We agreed that the net
proceeds of the sale will be used to purchase Solana (“SOL”).

ATM Sales Agreement. On July 18, 2025, we entered into an At-The-Market Offering Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with R.F. Lafferty & Co., Inc. (“R.F.

Lafferty””) under which we may offer and sell up to $6.5 million of shares of our common stock from time to time through an “at the market” offering program
under which R.F. Lafferty will act as sales agent. Under the Sales Agreement, we will set the parameters for the sale of shares, including the number or dollar
amount of shares to be issued, the time period during which sales are requested to be made, limitations on the number or dollar amount of shares that may be sold
in any one trading day and any minimum price below which sales may not be made. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Sales Agreement, R.F. Lafferty
may sell the shares by methods deemed to be an “at the market” offering as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We
have no obligation to sell any shares under the Sales Agreement and may at any time suspend solicitation and offers under the Sales Agreement. The shares will
be issued pursuant to our shelf registration statement on Form S-3, including the prospectus supplement contained therein, which was declared effective by the
SEC on July 14, 2023. As of August 11, 2025, 4,580 common stock shares have been sold under the ATM for net proceeds of $47,000.

June 2025 Private Placement. On June 26, 2025, we completed a private placement (the “Private Placement™) of (i) 136,843 shares (the “Shares”) of our common
stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock™), at $5.82 per share, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase 93,180 shares of Common Stock at an exercise
price of $0.001 per Share (the “Pre-Funded Warrants™) at $5.819 per Pre-Funded Warrant, (iii) warrants to purchase 460,046 shares of Common Stock at an
exercise price of $5.82 per share (the “$5.82 Warrants™), and (iv) warrants to purchase 230,023 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per share
(the “$10.00 Warrants™). The Pre-Funded Warrants, the $5.82 Warrants and the $10.00 Warrants are collectively referred to herein as the “Warrants” and the shares

issuable upon such Warrants, the “Warrant Shares.” Gross proceeds were $1.425 million.

Reverse Stock Split. On June 12, 2025, we filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada a Certificate of Change (the “Certificate of Change”), pursuant to
Nevada Revised Statutes 78.209, to effect a one-for-six (1-for-6) reverse stock split (the “Reverse Split”) of our issued and outstanding common stock, par value
$0.001 per share (the “Common Stock™). The Reverse Split was effective as of 12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on June 13, 2025 (the “Effective Time”). Pursuant to the
Nevada Revised Statutes 78.207, our board of directors has the authority to effect a reverse stock split without stockholder approval if the number of authorized
shares of common stock and the number of outstanding shares of common stock are proportionally reduced.

Digital Asset Treasury Strategy — Solana (SOL)
Background

Since June 2025, we have entered into two private placement transactions that expressly require the purchase of Solana’s native token, SOL. Under the June 2025 private
placement offering, we committed to use $250,000 of consideration received in connection with a private placement of equity securities to acquire SOL. Under the August 2025
private placement offering, we committed to apply the net cash proceeds of that $9.4 million offering to purchase additional SOL. To date, these two private placement offering-
related resolutions, together with the related delegation of authority to management to execute the purchases, constitute the full extent of Board authorization with respect to
digital-asset activity. No comprehensive digital-asset treasury policy has yet been adopted, and no authorization has been given to stake, lend, pledge, rehypothecate, or
otherwise deploy our SOL for yield. Management plans to prepare a fulsome policy for future Board consideration; any expansion of the strategy (including, without limitation,
staking or other yield-generating uses) will be presented to, and will require the express approval of, the Board before implementation.
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Current Parameters (as approved through the date of this filing)
Asset. SOL only.

Source of funds. (i) $250,000 of proceeds from the June 2025 private placement offering of equity securities and (ii) all net cash proceeds from the $9.4 million
August 2025 private placement offering.

Execution. Spot purchases for cash on U.S. venues that are registered or chartered, and subject to BSA/AML obligations. No leverage, margin, or derivatives are
permitted.

Custody. The initial $250,000 in SOL acquired pursuant to the June 2025 private placement offering is held in custody with BitGo, a U.S.-regulated, qualified
digital-asset custodian. Certain amounts of SOL acquired with proceeds from the August 2025 private placement offering, are held with CUBE, a U.S.-regulated,
qualified digital-asset custodian that provides segregated, cold-storage accounts, multi-signature authorization, SOC-2 reporting, and a limited insurance program.

Private keys are maintained exclusively with BitGo and CUBE; we do not self-custody.
Use of SOL. Our holdings are maintained as a long-term, non-core treasury reserve asset. No SOL has been loaned, staked, pledged, or otherwise encumbered.

Reporting. Our holdings are measured at fair value pursuant to ASU 2023-08. Changes in fair value flow through net income each reporting period. The Audit
Committee will receive reports covering holdings, valuation, counter-party exposure, and compliance with Board resolutions on a quarterly or more frequent
basis.

Liquidity & Working-Capital Treatment. Although SOL is not treated as cash, cash equivalents, or a financial asset for Nasdaq continued-listing standards, the
private placements described above increased shareholder equity. We will attempt to establish and maintain a separate reserve of liquid cash resources sufficient to
fund at least twelve months of projected operating expenses to support ongoing biopharmaceutical development activities, without relying on the sale of digital
assets. Seeking to maintain this twelve-month operating runway will support regulatory compliance, mitigate liquidity risk, and provide assurance to auditors and
stakeholders that our core biopharmaceutical operations remain fully funded.

Potential Future Enhancements (subject to separate Board approval)

We are evaluating, and may present for Board consideration and approval, additional treasury initiatives that could include: (i) staking SOL directly or via delegation to earn
protocol rewards; (ii) potentially further diversifying custody across multiple qualified custodians in addition to CUBE and BitGo; (iii) using SOL as collateral for non-recourse
financing; and (iv) other permissible yield-generating strategies consistent with applicable law. No such activities will commence unless and until specifically authorized by the
Board.

Description of Solana (SOL) and Rationale for Acquisition

SOL is the native digital asset of the Solana blockchain, an open-source, high-performance blockchain designed for speed and scalability. Solana employs a unique hybrid
consensus mechanism that combines proof-of-history (PoH) with proof-of-stake (PoS), enabling high throughput and low transaction costs. SOL is primarily used to pay

transaction fees (as the network's “gas” token) and as a means of staking to support the network’s consensus and security, with validators and delegators earning rewards for
their participation.

The Solana blockchain supports a wide range of decentralized applications (dApps), including decentralized finance (DeFi) protocols, non-fungible token (NFT) marketplaces,
and other Web3 projects. As of the date of this filing, Solana has a robust and growing ecosystem, with significant developer activity and adoption across multiple sectors.

From a tokenomics perspective, Solana was launched with an initial supply of 500 million SOL, with new tokens created through inflationary rewards distributed to validators
and delegators. The inflation rate is designed to decrease over time, providing a long-term supply schedule that supports both network security and economic sustainability.

The Board determined that acquiring SOL as a treasury asset is supported by several factors: (i) exposure to SOL offers potential long-term appreciation and may help preserve
the purchasing power of our excess liquidity; (ii) SOL is highly liquid relative to many other digital assets, with deep spot markets on multiple U.S.-regulated trading venues;
(iii) the Solana ecosystem continues to expand, particularly in DeFi, NFT infrastructure, and other Web3 use cases, which may drive further demand and utility for SOL. The
Board also considered the technical maturity of the Solana network, its institutional-grade custody solutions, and the optionality for future yield generation through staking,
subject to further Board approval.
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Governance and Controls

At present, our digital asset activity is limited to converting USD into SOL within our accounts at BitGo and CUBE, U.S.-regulated, qualified digital-asset custodians. We have
not yet adopted formal internal controls or protocols governing the movement or custody of SOL beyond the standard procedures provided by BitGo and CUBE. No SOL has
been transferred out of BitGo or CUBE custody to date, and we do not self-custody any digital assets. We are in the process of developing and implementing additional internal
controls and protocols to govern the movement, authorization, and custody of SOL, which we expect to present to the Board for review and approval.

A written transaction record is maintained for every SOL purchase or custodial movement and is reconciled daily to custodial statements. Digital-asset treasury disclosures
(including this description) will be included in our annual and quarterly reports on Forms 10-K and 10-Q, so that the full Board, the Audit Committee, and outside auditors and
advisors can review and comment prior to filing.

Advisory and Technical Support

To supplement internal resources, we have engaged a consulting firm as a strategic advisor for digital-asset treasury matters. The advisor is expected to review and comment on
draft policy materials and external disclosures.

In addition, we benefit from the technical expertise and support of CUBE, one of our digital-asset custodians. CUBE provides ongoing technical guidance and operational
support in connection with our digital asset custody and treasury management. CUBE’s involvement ensures that our custody arrangements and related protocols reflect current
best practices in digital asset security, compliance, and risk management.

Together, these advisory relationships help ensure that our digital asset treasury strategy is informed by up-to-date industry knowledge and that our internal policies and
disclosures are robust, accurate, and aligned with evolving regulatory and technical standards.

Risk Management Considerations

We recognize that SOL is volatile, that the regulatory landscape remains unsettled, and that custodial, cybersecurity, market-liquidity, tax, and accounting risks could materially
impact our results of operations. These risks, along with continued compliance with Nasdaq listing standards, will be reassessed at each Board meeting and re-evaluated before
any expansion of the strategy. See “Risk Factors — Risks relating to SOL’ for a description of the material risks that apply to our holdings of SOL.

Forward Look

We will continue to update and implement our Digital Asset Treasury (or “DAT”) strategy, incorporating the parameters above, feedback from our technical and strategic
advisors, and any additional safeguards as needed. Until additional capital resources are secured and/or a comprehensive DAT policy is adopted, especially related to staking
SOL, our authority is limited to fulfilling the current private placement offering-related SOL purchase obligations described in this report.

Key Trends and Factors Affecting Comparability Between Periods

Our historical financial statements do not reflect the potential variability in earnings that we may experience in the future from holding or selling significant
amounts of SOL. The prices of digital assets have historically been subject to dramatic price fluctuations and are highly volatile. In December 2023, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update 2023-08, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Crypto Assets (Subtopic 350-60): Accounting for
and Disclosure of Crypto Assets (“ASU 2023-08”), which we are required to adopt under GAAP. ASU 2023-08 requires us to measure our SOL holdings at fair
value in our statement of financial position, and to recognize gains and losses from changes in the fair value of our SOL in net income each reporting period. ASU
2023-08 also requires us to provide certain interim and annual disclosures with respect to our SOL holdings. As a result, volatility in our earnings may be
significantly more than what we experienced in prior periods.

We expect to continue to incur future R&D expenses associated with the continued development of our drug candidates. The level of expenses will be highly
dependent upon the scope of pre-clinical and clinical development activities and strategies, and will also be directly dependent upon the level of our available
funding for R&D activities.

We expect to continue to incur general and administrative expenses in the future, which are expected, in the near-term, to be broadly comparable to the level of

general and administrative expenses incurred year-to-date.
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Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

To date, we have not generated any revenue and we may not generate any revenue from the sale of products or from other sources in the near future.

Operating Expenses

We classify our operating expenses into research and development, and general and administrative expenses. Research and development expense consists of expenses incurred
while performing research and development activities to discover and develop our product candidates. This includes conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials,
development efforts and activities related to regulatory filings for product candidates. We recognize research and development expenses as they are incurred. Our research and
development expense primarily consists of costs incurred in research and development partnerships, preliminary studies, development of potential intellectual property, and
research initiatives. General and administrative expense consists of professional fees, stock-based compensation, executive and director compensation and other administrative
costs.

Other Income

Our other income consists of interest income and changes in fair value of our trading marketable securities.

Three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2024

Three months ended

June 30,
(In thousands) 2025 2024 Change
Operating Expenses
General and administrative $ 1,279 $ 827 § 452
Research and development 1,871 1,685 186
Total Operating Expenses 3,150 2,512 638
Loss from Operations (3,150) (2,512) (638)
Other income (71) 79 (150)
Net Loss $ (3,221) $ (2,433) § (788)
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Our operating expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2025, were $3.2 million compared to $2.5 million for the same period in 2024. The increase in operating expenses
for the three months ended June 30, 2025, was primarily the result of increases in professional fees associated with our capital raising efforts and increases in research and
development expenditures related to our clinical programs. Offsetting the increased research and development expenditures were tax credits of $704 received from the UK
Government during the current period compared to the credits in the prior year which were received subsequent to June 30, 2024.

Six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to the six months ended June 30, 2024

Six months ended

June 30,
(In thousands) 2025 2024 Change
Operating Expenses
General and administrative $ 2,274 $ 1,909 $ 365
Research and development 3,255 3,192 63
Total Operating Expenses 5,529 5,101 428
Loss from Operations (5,529) (5,101) (428)
Other income (expense) (64) 185 (249)
Net Loss $ (5,593) $ (4916) $ (677)

Our operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2025, were $5.5 million compared to $5.1 million for the same period in 2024. The increase in operating expenses for
the six months ended June 30, 2025, was primarily the result of increases in professional fees associated with our capital raising efforts and increases in research and
development expenditures related to our clinical programs. Offsetting the increased research and development expenditures were tax credits of $704 received from the UK
Government during the current period compared to the credits in the prior year which were received subsequent to June 30, 2024.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity
Liquidity is the ability of a company to generate funds to support its current and future operations, satisfy its obligations and otherwise operate on an ongoing basis.

Since our inception, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and have incurred significant operating losses and negative cash flows from our operations. Our net
loss was $5.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025. As of June 30, 2025, we had cash and cash equivalents of $2.1 million. In May 2022, we entered into a purchase
agreement and a registration rights agreement (the “Equity Line”) with an institutional investor, providing for the sale of up to $20.0 million worth of our Common Stock over
the thirty-six (36) month term of the purchase agreement, which has now expired. As of June 30, 2025, in accordance with the Equity Line we have issued a total of 74,153
shares of our Common Stock under the purchase agreement with aggregate proceeds of $679.

In July 2023 we filed a $75.0 million shelf registration statement on Form S-3 which became effective on July 14, 2023. The shelf registration statement is effective for three
years, and permits us to sell, from time to time, up to $75.0 million in aggregate value of our Common Stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and/or units subject to a
limit of one-third (1/3) of our public float within a twelve (12) month period if our public float is less than $75,000 as of relevant measurement dates under applicable securities
laws. The shelf registration statement was intended to provide us with flexibility to access additional capital when market conditions are appropriate.

On May 1, 2025, we issued at-market, unsecured convertible notes with gross proceeds of $900. The convertible notes bear interest at 12.0% and have a maturity of 180 days.

The convertible notes are subject to voluntary and automatic provisions for conversion into our common stock, as well as conversion into warrants to purchase our common
stock for a five-year period at a price of $6.24. Certain members of our board of directors, an officer and consultants to the Company acquired $350 of the convertible notes.
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On June 24, 2025, we entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with the purchasers named therein (the “Purchasers”), for the private placement
(the “Private Placement”) of (i) 136,843 shares (the “Shares”) of tour common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock™), at $5.82 per share, (ii) pre-funded
warrants to purchase 93,180 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.001 per Share (the “Pre-Funded Warrants™) at $5.819 per Pre-Funded Warrant, (iii) warrants to
purchase 460,046 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.82 per share (the “$5.82 Warrants”), and (iv) warrants to purchase 230,023 shares of Common Stock at an
exercise price of $10.00 per share (the “$10.00 Warrants™). The Pre-Funded Warrants, the $5.82 Warrants and the $10.00 Warrants are collectively referred to herein as the
“Warrants” and the shares issuable upon such Warrants, the “Warrant Shares.” Gross proceeds were $1.4 million.

On July 18, 2025, we entered into an At-The-Market Offering Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with R.F. Lafferty & Co., Inc. (“R.F. Lafferty”) under which we may offer
and sell up to $6.5 million of shares of our common stock from time to time through an “at the market” offering program under which R.F. Lafferty will act as sales agent.
Under the Sales Agreement, we will set the parameters for the sale of shares, including the number or dollar amount of shares to be issued, the time period during which sales are
requested to be made, limitations on the number or dollar amount of shares that may be sold in any one trading day and any minimum price below which sales may not be
made. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Sales Agreement, R.F. Lafferty may sell the shares by methods deemed to be an “at the market” offering as defined in Rule
415 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We have no obligation to sell any shares under the Sales Agreement and may at any time suspend solicitation
and offers under the Sales Agreement. The shares will be issued pursuant to our shelf registration statement on Form S-3, including the prospectus supplement contained
therein, which was declared effective by the SEC on July 14, 2023. As of August 11, 2025, 4,580 common stock shares have been sold under the ATM for net proceeds of
$47,000.].

In order to continue operations, we will be required to raise additional funds by completing additional equity or debt offerings or licensing our product candidates. We are
currently pursuing various financing strategies. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in acquiring additional funding, that our projections of our future working
capital needs will prove accurate, or that any additional funding would be sufficient to continue operations in future years. These conditions raise substantial doubt about our
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do
not include any adjustments to reflect the future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities if we are unable to
continue as a going concern.

Funding Requirements

To date, we have not generated any revenue and we may not generate any revenue from the sale of products or from other sources in the near future. We expect our expenses
and capital requirements will increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities as we:

continue our research and development activities;

maintain, protect and expand our intellectual property portfolio, including patents, trade secrets and know how;
implement operational, financial and management information systems;

attract, hire and retain additional management, scientific and administrative personnel; and

operate as a public company.
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We continue to face challenges and uncertainties and, as a result, our available capital resources may be consumed more rapidly than currently expected due to: delays in
execution of our product development plans; the scope and timing of our investment in our research and development activities and capabilities; changes we may make to the
business that affect ongoing operating expenses; the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights; changes we
may make in our business strategy; the scope and timing of our investment in sales, marketing and distribution capabilities; our need to implement additional infrastructure and
internal systems; the impact of the conflicts in Eastern Europe, the Middle East and in other countries; and other items affecting our forecasted level of expenditures and use of
cash resources including potential acquisitions.

Until such time as we can generate significant revenue, if ever, we will continue to require substantial additional capital to fund operations for the foreseeable future. We intend
to obtain such capital through public or private equity offerings or debt financings, credit or loan facilities or a combination of one or more of these funding sources. We may
also seek additional financing opportunistically. We may be unable to raise additional funds on favorable terms or at all. Our ability to raise additional funds may be adversely
impacted by potential worsening global economic conditions and the recent disruptions to, and volatility in, the credit and financial markets in the United States and, recent and
any potential future financial institution failures, the conflicts in Eastern Europe, the Middle East and in other countries, and otherwise. Our failure to raise additional capital, if
needed, would have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to execute our business plan.

Our expected future capital requirements depend on many factors including expansion of our product portfolio and the timing and extent of spending on research and
development activities and sales and marketing. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders will experience dilution. Any future debt financing
into which we enter may impose upon us additional covenants that restrict our operations, including limitations on our ability to incur liens or additional debt, pay dividends,
repurchase our common stock, make certain investments and engage in certain merger, consolidation or asset sale transactions. Any debt or additional equity financings that we
complete may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders.

Working Capital

June 30, December 31,
(In thousands) 2025 2024 Change
Current Assets $ 2,233  § 2,557 $ (324)
Current Liabilities 5,712 1,772 3,940
Working Capital $ (3,479) $ 785 $ (4,264)

Our total current assets as of June 30, 2025, were $2.2 million as compared to total current assets of $2.6 million as of December 31, 2024. The decrease in current assets was
primarily due to the funding of our operating activities.

Our total current liabilities as of June 30, 2025, were $5.7 million as compared to total current liabilities of $1.8 million as of December 31, 2024, the result of our deferring
payment on certain payables as a result of our cash preservation strategy.

Historical Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Six months ended

June 30,
(In thousands) 2025 2024 Change
Cash Flows used in operating activities $ 2,111) $ (5,005) $ 2,895
Cash Flows provided by investing activities - 3,019 (3,019)
Cash Flows provided by financing activities 1,816 55 1,761
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 23 3) 25
Net change in cash and cash equivalent during period $ 272) $ (1,934) $ 1,662
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2025, cash used in operating activities was $2.1 million compared to $5.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2024. Cash used
in operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2025, was attributed to a net loss of $5.6 million offset by decreases in operating assets and increases in liabilities of
$3.1 million and non-cash stock-based compensation of $0.3 million. Cash used in operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2024, was attributed to a net loss of
$4.9 million and a non-cash gain of $0.2 million associated with our trading of marketable securities and decreases in operating assets and liabilities of $0.3 million offset by
stock-based compensation of $0.4 million.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2025, cash provided by investing activities was $0.0 million compared to $3.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2024 . During
the six months ended June 30, 2024, cash flows provided by investing activities of $3.0 million was the result of $3.5 million received from dispositions of trading marketable
securities offset by $0.5 million from purchases of trading marketable securities.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2025, cash flows provided by financing activities was $1.8 million compared to $0.1 million during the six months ended June 30, 2024.
During the six months ended June 30, 2025, cash flows provided by financing activities were the result of the net proceeds from the issuance of common shares of $1.1 million
and net proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes of $0.7 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, cash flows provided by financing activities were comprised
of proceeds from the issuance of common stock of $0.1 million.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

For a discussion of our contractual obligations and commitments, refer to Part II, Item 8, Note 8, “Commitments and Contingencies” to the financial statements in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to stockholders.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with the
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Preparing financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis and base our estimates on historical experience
and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for the judgments we make about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Because these estimates can vary depending on the situation, actual results may differ from these
estimates. Making estimates and judgments about future events is inherently unpredictable and is subject to significant uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control.
Should any of these estimates and assumptions change or prove to have been incorrect, it could have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position and
statement of cash flows.

Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate long-lived assets, including indefinite life intangible assets and operating lease right-of-use (ROU) assets, for impairment whenever events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. We group assets at the lowest level for which cash flows are separately identified in order to
measure an impairment. Events or circumstances that would result in an impairment review include a significant change in the use of an asset, the planned sale or disposal of an
asset, or a projection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses associated with the use of a long-lived asset or asset group. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. If the asset or asset group
is determined to be impaired, the impairment recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds its fair value.

Assumptions and estimates used to determine cash flows in the evaluation of impairment and fair values used to determine the impairment are subject to a degree of judgment
and complexity. Any future changes to the assumptions and estimates resulting from changes in actual results or market conditions from those anticipated may affect the
carrying value of long-lived assets and could result in additional impairment charges, and such changes could be material.

Accrued Clinical Trial and Research and Development Expenses

As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued expenses as of each consolidated balance sheet date. This process involves
reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf and estimating the level of service
performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of the actual cost. We make estimates of our accrued
expenses as of each consolidated balance sheet date based on facts and circumstances known to us at that time. We periodically confirm the accuracy of our estimates with the
service providers and make adjustments, if necessary. The significant estimates in our accrued clinical trial and research and development expenses include the costs incurred
for services performed by our vendors in connection with clinical trial and research and development activities for which we have not yet been invoiced.

We base our expenses related to clinical trial and research and development activities on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to quotes and
contracts with vendors that conduct clinical trials and research and development on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from
contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of services provided and
result in a prepayment of the clinical trial and research and development expense. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed
and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrual or
prepaid expense accordingly. Advance payments for goods and services that will be used in future clinical trial or research and development activities are expensed when the
activity has been performed or when the goods have been received rather than when the payment is made.

Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, if our estimates of the status and timing of services performed differ from
the actual status and timing of services performed, it could result in us reporting amounts that are too high or too low in any particular period. To date, there have been no
material differences between our estimates of such expenses and the amounts actually incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense represents the cost of the grant date fair value of equity awards recognized over the requisite service period of the awards (usually the
vesting period) on a straight-line basis. We estimate the fair value of equity awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and recognize forfeitures as they occur.
Estimating the fair value of equity awards as of the grant date using valuation models, such as the Black-Scholes option pricing model, is affected by assumptions regarding a
number of variables, including the risk-free interest rate, the expected stock price volatility, the expected term of stock options, the expected dividend yield and the fair value of
the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Changes in the assumptions can materially affect the fair value and ultimately how much stock-based compensation expense
is recognized. These inputs are subjective and generally require significant analysis and judgment to develop. See Note 6 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Interim Report on Form 10-Q for information concerning certain of the specific assumptions we used in applying the Black-Scholes option pricing
model to determine the estimated fair value of our stock options granted, if any, during the three months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. The estimates and
judgments will also affect the reported amounts for certain revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these good faith estimates and
judgments.

New Accounting Standard Adopted

There were no new accounting standards adopted during the six months ended June 30, 2025 .

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

As a “smaller reporting company,” we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (our principal executive, principal financial and principal accounting officer), has evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”),
as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives and
management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of June 30, 2025.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the period covered by this report there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
Control systems, no matter how well conceived and operated, are designed to provide a reasonable, but not an absolute, level of assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their

costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
have been detected. Because of the inherent limitations in any control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings relating to claims arising out of our operations. We are not currently a party to any legal
proceedings that, in the opinion of our management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Regardless of
outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
You should consider carefully the following information about the risks described below, together with the other information contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
and in our other public filings, in evaluating our business. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and future
growth prospects would likely be materially and adversely affected. In these circumstances, the market price of our Common Stock would likely decline. We have organized the
description of these risks into groupings in an effort to enhance readability, but many of the risks interrelate or could be grouped or ordered in other ways, so no special
significance should be attributed to the groupings or order below.

Risk Factor Summary

Risks Related to our Business and Product Candidates:

We will need to raise additional financing to support our business objectives. We cannot be sure we will be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable
to us when needed, or at all. If we are unable to obtain additional financing to meet our needs, our operations may be adversely affected or terminated.

We are currently receiving Research and Development, or R&D, tax credits from the UK in connection with our clinical trials being conducted in the UK. With
effect for accounting periods starting on or after April 1, 2024, expenditure on certain staffing costs in connection with activities which take place outside the UK
as part of our clinical trials, will not qualify for R&D tax credits unless restrictive conditions are met.
If we fail to comply with our obligations under our patent licenses with third parties, we could lose license rights that are vital to our business.
Changes in regulatory requirements or other unforeseen circumstances may impact the timing of the initiation or completion of our clinical trials.
We face many of the risks and difficulties frequently encountered by relatively new companies with respect to our operations.
We have no mature product candidates and may not be successful in licensing any.
Even if we are successful in licensing lead product candidates, resource limitations may limit our ability to successfully develop them.
Risk Factors Related to our DAT Strategy:
SOL is a highly volatile asset, and fluctuations in the price of SOL may influence our financial results and the market price of our listed securities.

SOL and other digital assets are novel assets and are subject to significant legal and regulatory uncertainty.

Our SOL digital asset holdings may not be recognized as cash or financial assets under Nasdaq listing standards, which could jeopardize our continued listing and
adversely affect the liquidity and market price of our Common Stock.

Our Solana treasury strategy could divert resources and attention away from our biopharmaceutical business and adversely affect our operations.
Our SOL treasury strategy subjects us to enhanced regulatory oversight.

We plan to use a portion of our capital raised that is not required to provide working capital for our ongoing operations to acquire SOL, which may adversely
affect our financial results and the market price of our securities.

If we were deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions likely would make it impractical for us to continue
segments of our business as currently contemplated.

We face risks relating to the custody of SOL, including the loss or destruction of private keys required to access SOL and cyberattacks or other data loss relating to
SOL, including smart contract related losses and vulnerabilities.

Due to the unregulated nature and lack of transparency surrounding the operations of many SOL trading venues, SOL trading venues may experience greater
fraud, security failures or regulatory or operational problems than trading venues for more established asset classes, which may result in a loss of confidence in
SOL trading venues and adversely affect the value of SOL.

Our SOL holdings will be less liquid than our cash and cash equivalents and may not be able to serve as a source of liquidity for us to the same extent as cash and

cash equivalents.
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Risks Related to our Intellectual Property:
If we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our products, our competitors could develop and commercialize products and technology similar or
identical to our product candidates, and our ability to successfully commercialize any product candidates we may develop, and our science may be adversely

affected.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural measures, document submissions, fee payments and other
requirements imposed by government patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of our patents and other intellectual property.
Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats.
Intellectual property litigation could cause us to spend substantial resources and distract our personnel from their normal responsibilities.
Risks Related to our Securities:
Our Common Stock may be delisted from The Nasdaq Capital Market if we cannot maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements.
If we sell securities in future financings stockholders may experience immediate dilution and, as a result, our stock price may decline.
The price of our securities may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment. Further, we do not know whether an active, liquid and orderly
trading market will continue for our securities or what the market price of our securities will be and as a result it may be difficult for you to sell your shares of our
securities.
Any market activity involving short selling or other market making activities could result in negative impact to the market price for our Common Stock.
A sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock may cause the price of our common stock to decline.
We could be subject to securities class action litigation.

Shares of our Common Stock that have not been registered under federal securities laws are subject to resale restrictions imposed by Rule 144, including those set
forth in Rule 144(i) which apply to a former “shell company.”

Sales of our currently issued and outstanding stock may become freely tradable pursuant to Rule 144 and sales of such shares may have a depressive effect on the
share price of its Common Stock.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS AND PRODUCT CANDIDATES
Our financial condition raises substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern.

As of June 30, 2025, we had approximately $2.1 million in cash and cash equivalents, and working capital of negative $3.5 million, and we have incurred and expect to continue
to incur significant costs in pursuit of our drug candidates. For the six months ended June 30, 2025, we recorded a net loss of approximately $5.6 million and used cash in
operations of approximately $2.1 million. Our financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2025 have been prepared assuming that we will continue to operate as a
going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. To date, we have not generated substantial
product revenues from our activities and have incurred substantial operating losses. We expect that we will continue to generate substantial operating losses for the foreseeable
future until we complete development and approval of one of our product candidates. We expect to continue to fund our operations primarily through utilization of our current
financial resources and additional raises of capital.
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These conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. We have evaluated the significance of the uncertainty regarding our financial condition
in relation to our ability to meet our obligations, which has raised substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. While it is very difficult to estimate our
future liquidity requirements, we believe if we are unable to obtain additional financing, existing cash resources will not be sufficient to enable us to fund the anticipated level of
operations through one year from the date the accompanying financial statements are issued. There can be no assurances that we will be able to secure additional financing on
acceptable terms. In the event we do not secure additional financing, we will be forced to delay, reduce, or eliminate some or all of its discretionary spending, which could
adversely affect our business prospects, ability to meet long-term liquidity needs and the ability to continue operations.

We will need to raise additional financing to support our business objectives. We cannot be sure we will be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us
when needed, or at all. If we are unable to obtain additional financing to meet our needs, our operations may be adversely affected or terminated.

Since our inception, we have used substantial amounts of cash to fund our research and operations and expect our expenses to increase substantially in the foreseeable future as
developing our product candidates and conducting and completing clinical trials will require substantial amounts of capital. We will also require a significant additional amount
of capital to commercialize any products that may be approved in the future.

We will need to raise additional funds in the near future in order to satisfy our working capital and capital expenditure requirements. We may raise additional funds through
public or private equity offerings, debt financings, strategic partnerships or alliances, receivables or royalty financings or corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements.
We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. To the extent that we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities or
convertible debt, your ownership may be diluted and the terms of such financings may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of existing
stockholders. Any future debt financing into which we enter may impose upon us covenants that restrict our operations, including limitations on our ability to incur liens or
additional debt, pay dividends, redeem our stock, make certain investments and engage in certain merger, consolidation or asset sale transactions. These restrictions could
adversely impact our ability to conduct our business and may result in liens being placed on our assets and intellectual property. Debt financings may also be coupled with an
equity component, such as warrants to purchase shares, which could also result in dilution of our existing stockholders’ ownership. The incurrence of indebtedness would result
in increased fixed payment obligations and could also result in certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability
to acquire or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business and may result in liens being
placed on our assets and intellectual property. If we were to default on such indebtedness, we could lose such assets and intellectual property. If we raise additional funds
through strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our product candidates. In addition, if we
raise additional funds through corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish potentially valuable rights to products or product candidates
or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. Our future capital requirements may depend on a wide range of factors, including, but not limited to:

the costs related to initiation, progress, timing, and results of preclinical studies and clinical trials for our product candidates;
any change in the clinical development plans for these product candidates;

the number and characteristics of product candidates that we develop or acquire;
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our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing or other commercialization arrangements and the terms and timing of such arrangements;
the emergence, approval, availability, perceived advantages, relative cost, relative safety and relative efficacy of other products or treatments;

the events related to the outcome, timing and cost of meeting regulatory requirements established by the U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency (the “DEA”), the FDA or
other comparable foreign regulatory authorities;

the potential costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing our patent claims and other intellectual property;

changes in economic conditions, including recessionary effects and inflationary pressures;

the costs associated with attracting and retaining skilled personnel;

the costs associated with being a public company;

the cost of defending intellectual property disputes; and

the cost of marketing and generating revenues for any of our product candidates.
If we are unable to raise additional capital when required or on acceptable terms, we may be required to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue one or more of our
product development programs or commercialization efforts, or other aspects of our business plan. We also may be required to relinquish, license or otherwise dispose of rights
to products or product candidates that we would otherwise seek to commercialize or develop ourselves on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available. In

addition, our ability to achieve profitability or to respond to competitive pressures would be significantly limited.

We are currently receiving Research and Development (“R&D”) tax credits from the UK in connection with its activities in the UK. The value of these will decrease and
there is an increased risk payments may be significantly delayed.

The UK government grants R&D tax credits to companies conducting preclinical research and clinical trials in the UK, as we are currently doing. The credits are paid to loss
making companies, which effectively reduces the costs, and the cash we use, for our current trials. The value of R&D tax credits has decreased for all companies due to
legislative changes affecting expenditure incurred after April 1, 2023. As a result of this and because of the increase in R&D activities in the U.S. we will likely no longer meet
the definition of an “R&D intensive” company in the UK and will therefore only be eligible for payable credits at the lower rate of 10%. Furthermore, increased compliance
activity by the UK tax authorities over the last year has resulted in a significantly higher number of claims being selected for enquiry. In the event of an inquiry the payment of
the R&D credit could be delayed by 6-12 months.

34




Table of Contents
If we fail to comply with our obligations under our patent licenses with third parties, we could lose license rights that are vital to our business.

We are a party to license agreements with NEOMED Institute and the Research Foundation at Stony Brook University, pursuant to which we have in-licensed key patents and
patent applications for our product candidates. These existing licenses impose various diligence, milestone payment, royalty and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply
with these obligations, our licensors may have the right to terminate the licenses, in which event we would not be able to develop or market the products covered by such
licensed intellectual property. In particular, on April 24, 2019, we exercised our option (the “Option Exercise”) pursuant to the Material and Data Transfer, Option and License

Agreement with NEOMED dated as of December 20, 2017, as amended on January 4, 2019 (the “NEOMED Agreement”). In the future, if we are found not to be in compliance
with the NEOMED Agreement, our license agreement with the Research Foundation at Stony Brook University (the “Stony Brook Agreement”), or any other license
agreements it could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. If we fail to comply with any of our license obligations, our
licensors may have the right to terminate these agreements, in which event we might not be able to develop and market any product candidate that is covered by these
agreements. Termination of these licenses or reduction or elimination of our licensed rights may result in our having to negotiate new or reinstated licenses with less favorable
terms. We may enter into additional licensing agreements in the future and if we fail to comply with obligations under those agreements, we could suffer similar consequences.

Changes in regulatory requirements or other unforeseen circumstances may impact the timing of the initiation or completion of our clinical trials.

Changes in regulatory requirements and guidance may occur, and we may need to amend clinical trial protocols or our development plan to reflect these changes. Amendments
may require resubmitting clinical trial protocols to the FDA or other similar authorities in other jurisdictions and institutional review boards (“IRBs”) for re-examination, which
may impact the costs, timing or successful completion of our clinical trials. If we experience delays in completion of, or if we terminate any planned clinical trials, the
commercial prospects for product candidates may be harmed, and the ability to generate product revenues will be delayed. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to,
a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of product candidates. Further, changes in regulatory
requirements and policies can impact our clinical trials, including due to public health concerns, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, stresses on healthcare systems
and our clinical trial sites may have a material impact on our ability to recruit participants for our clinical trials and we may not be able to commence or complete our clinical
trials as currently planned. We may also be required to significantly modify our study protocol, policies and procedures in order to address or accommodate patients and study
site needs. Such changes can include modification to protocol inclusion and exclusion criteria, extending the time for patient follow up visits, using telemedicine, phone
interviews and other technology to monitor patient safety, all of which will need to be approved by applicable IRBs, ethics committees, and regulatory authorities. Recently, the
U.S. Supreme Court overruled the Chevron doctrine, which gives deference to regulatory agencies’ statutory interpretations in litigation against federal government agencies,
such as the FDA, where the law is ambiguous. This landmark Supreme Court decision may invite more companies and other stakeholders to bring lawsuits against the FDA to
challenge longstanding decisions and policies of the FDA, including FDA’s statutory interpretations of market exclusivities and the “substantial evidence” requirements for drug
approvals, which could undermine the FDA’s authority, lead to uncertainties in the industry, and disrupt the FDA’s normal operations, any of which could delay the FDA’s
review of our regulatory submissions. We cannot predict the full impact of this decision, future judicial challenges brought against the FDA, or the nature or extent of
government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action.

Geopolitical tensions, including the war in Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war or other regional conflicts may disrupt investment in our business, supply chains carrying required
materials and the movement of people globally. Such disruptions may adversely affect our clinical trials, scope of potential partners and our business generally. In particular,
there is currently significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United States and various other countries, most significantly China, with respect to trade
policies, treaties, tariffs, taxes, and other limitations on cross-border operations. The U.S. government has made and continues to make significant additional changes in U.S.
trade policy and may continue to take future actions that could negatively impact U.S. trade. We cannot predict what actions may ultimately be taken with respect to trade
relations between the United States and China or other countries, what products and services may be subject to such actions or what actions may be taken by the other countries
in retaliation. If we are unable to obtain or use services from existing service providers or become unable to export or sell our products to any of our customers or service
providers, our business, liquidity, financial condition, and/or results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.
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We face many of the risks and difficulties frequently encountered by relatively new companies with respect to our operations.

Our business objective is to pursue the licensing, development and commercialization of therapeutic treatments that modulate lipid-signaling pathways, including the
endocannabinoid system. We have limited operating history as a medical research company engaged in biopharmaceutical research upon which an evaluation of us and our
prospects could be based. There can be no assurance that our management will be successful in being able to commercially exploit the results, if any, from our product
development research projects or that we will be able to develop products and treatments that will enable us to generate sufficient revenues to meet our expenses or to achieve
and/or maintain profitability.

If we are unable to raise sufficient capital as needed, we may be required to reduce the scope of our planned research and development activities, which could harm our business
plans, financial condition and operating results, or cease our operations entirely, in which case, you may lose all your investment.

Even if one or more of our product candidates is approved for commercial sale, we anticipate incurring significant costs associated with commercializing any approved product
candidate and we may not generate significant revenue from sales of such products, resulting in limited or no profitability in the future. Our prior losses and expected future
losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital for the foreseeable future. Any failure to become and remain
profitable may adversely affect the market price of our securities, our ability to raise capital and our future viability.

We have no mature product candidates and may not be successful in licensing any.

One of the key elements of our business strategy is to license technologies or compounds from companies and/or research institutions. We may not be able to identify
technologies or compounds that are commercially viable, or that are available for licensure under acceptable terms. If we are able to identify suitable technologies or
compounds, we may be unable to successfully negotiate a license, or maintain the licensing and collaboration arrangements necessary to develop and commercialize any
product candidates. We may be unable to compete for licenses to available technologies and compounds with companies that are more established than us and have greater
financial resources than us. Even if we are successful in licensing programs, we may not be able to satisfy development requirements should we be unable to raise additional
funding.

Any failure to establish or maintain licensing or collaboration arrangements on favorable terms could adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize product
candidates, which can adversely affect our business prospects and financial condition.

Even if we are successful in licensing lead product candidates, resource limitations may limit our ability to successfully develop them.
Pharmaceutical development requires substantial capital, skilled personnel and infrastructure to successfully develop products for the market. The success of our business is
highly dependent on our ability to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize products. We do not currently have the financial resources to fund the

full development of any lead product candidate to commercialization and there is no assurance that we can raise enough capital to fund full product development. If we are
unable to raise additional capital, we will not be able to pursue the development of any products and may have to relinquish rights to any products we may have licensed.
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We do not have any therapeutic products that are approved for commercial sale. Our ability to generate revenue from product sales and become profitable depends
significantly on our success in a number of areas.

We currently do not have any therapeutic products that are approved for commercial sale. We have not received and do not expect to receive for at least the next several years,
if at all, any revenues from the commercialization of our product candidates, if approved in the future. To obtain revenues from sales of our product candidates that are
significant or large enough to achieve profitability, we must succeed, either alone or with third parties, in developing, obtaining regulatory approval for, manufacturing and
marketing therapies with commercial potential. Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability depends significantly on our success in many areas, including:

our research and development efforts, including preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates;

developing sustainable, scalable, reliable and cost-effective manufacturing and distribution processes for our product candidates, including establishing and
maintaining commercially viable supply relationships with third parties and establishing our own cGMPs, manufacturing facilities and processes;

addressing any competing technological and industry developments;

identifying, assessing, acquiring and/or developing new technology platforms and product candidates across numerous therapeutic areas;

obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing authorizations for product candidates;

launching and commercializing any approved products, either directly or with a collaborator or distributor;

obtaining market acceptance of and acceptable reimbursement for any approved products;

completing collaborations, licenses and other strategic transactions on favorable terms, if at all;

maintaining, protecting and expanding our portfolio of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets and know-how; and

attracting, hiring and retaining qualified personnel.
We have very limited operating history and capabilities.
Although our company was formed in 2011, our current business focus and operations in pharmaceutical development began in 2017. We do not currently have the ability to
perform all the functions necessary to develop and commercialize any product candidates. The successful development of any product candidates will require us to perform a
variety of functions including, but not limited to:

identifying, licensing and obtaining development programs and lead candidates;

conducting initial research required to identify a lead candidate as the result of intellectual property we have licensed;

initiating preclinical, clinical or other required studies for future product candidates;

adding manufacturers and suppliers required to advance our programs;

obtaining regulatory and marketing approvals for our product candidates that successfully complete clinical studies;

making milestone or other payments under any license agreements;

expanding, maintaining and protecting our intellectual property portfolio;

attracting and retaining skilled personnel; and

creating and maintaining an infrastructure required to support our operations as a public company.
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Our operations continue to be focused on acquiring, developing and securing our proprietary technology and undertaking pre-clinical and clinical trials of our products.

We expect our financial condition and operating results to continue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year due to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond
our control. Upon approval of any of our product candidates, we will need to transition from a company with a research and development focus to a company capable of
undertaking commercial activities. We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays and may not be successful in such a transition.

We may experience delays in providing sufficient product for future testing of our candidates due to prior and any future supply chain limitations

Due to prior and any future supply chain disruptions caused by COVID-19, or other pandemics, our contract manufacturing organizations may experience an inability to
manufacture and produce sufficient quantities of our drug candidates as we progress through our regulatory testing and/or approval. Should this happen, we may not be able to
provide sufficient quantities of our drug candidates to complete our testing as currently planned which could delay our ability to bring an approved drug to market. Such a delay
may cause us to use more capital than currently planned which may have a material adverse effect on our projected timing of product approval and financials.

After submitting Investigational New Drug applications, the FDA may not permit us to proceed in a timely manner, or at all.

Prior to commencing clinical trials in territories with a regulatory authority we must obtain the necessary approvals to commence the clinical studies. For example, before
initiating a clinical trial in the United States for any of our product candidates, we may be required to have an IND in effect for each product candidate. Submission of an IND
may not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to begin and, once begun, issues may arise that will require us to suspend or terminate such clinical trials. Once an IND is
submitted, the sponsor must wait 30 calendar days before initiating the clinical trial, during which FDA will review the IND and either provide comments or allow the trial to
proceed. Additionally, even if relevant regulatory authorities agree with the design and implementation of the clinical trials set forth in an IND or a clinical trial application (the
equivalent of an IND in foreign jurisdictions), these regulatory authorities may change their requirements in the future. Although we have commenced clinical trials, the fact
that we are pursuing novel technologies may also exacerbate these risks with respect to our product candidates, and as a result we may not meet our anticipated clinical
development timelines.

Use of our product candidates could be associated with adverse side effects.

As with most biopharmaceutical products, use of our product candidates could be associated with side effects or adverse events which can vary in severity and frequency. Side
effects or adverse events associated with the use of our product candidates may be observed at any time, including in clinical trials or once a product is commercialized, and any
such side effects or adverse events may negatively affect our ability to obtain regulatory approval or market our product candidates. Side effects such as toxicity or other safety
issues associated with the use of our product candidates could require us to perform additional studies or halt development or sale of these product candidates or expose us to
product liability lawsuits which will harm our business if we are found liable.

The emergence of unforeseen safety issues or adverse events may lead to regulatory agencies requiring us to conduct additional preclinical or clinical trials regarding the safety
and efficacy of our product candidates, which we have not planned or anticipated. We cannot assure you that we will resolve any issues related to any product-related adverse
events to the satisfaction of the FDA or any regulatory agency in a timely manner or ever, which could harm our business, prospects and financial condition. We may also
inadvertently fail to report adverse events we become aware of within the prescribed timeframe. We may also fail to appreciate that we have become aware of a reportable
adverse event, especially if it is not reported to us as an adverse event or if it is an adverse event that is unexpected or removed in time from the use of our products. If we fail to
comply with our reporting obligations, the FDA or other foreign regulatory agencies could take action including criminal prosecution, the imposition of civil monetary
penalties, seizure of our products, or delay in approval or clearance of future products.
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Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, results of earlier studies and clinical trials may not be predictive of future
clinical trial results, and our clinical trials may fail to adequately d strate substantial evidence of safety and efficacy of our product candidates.

Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. A failure of one or more of our clinical trials can occur at any time
during the clinical trial process. The results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials of our product candidates may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical
trials. There is a high failure rate for drugs proceeding through clinical trials, and product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the required safety and
efficacy despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry have suffered significant
setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or adverse safety profiles, notwithstanding promising results in earlier clinical trials, and we cannot be certain that we
will not face similar setbacks. Even if our clinical trials are completed, the results may not be sufficient to support obtaining regulatory approval for our product candidates.
We do not know whether future clinical trials, if any, will begin on time, need to be redesigned, enroll an adequate number of patients on time or be completed on schedule, if at
all. Clinical trials can be delayed, suspended or terminated by us, regulatory authorities, clinical trial investigators, and ethics committees for a variety of reasons, including
failure to:

generate sufficient preclinical, toxicology, or other in vivo or in vitro data to support the initiation or continuation of clinical trials;

obtain regulatory approval, or feedback on clinical trial design, to commence a clinical trial;

identify, recruit and train suitable clinical investigators;

reach agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites;

obtain and maintain IRB, approval at each clinical trial site;

identify, recruit, and enroll suitable patients to participate in a clinical trial;

have a sufficient number of patients complete a clinical trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

ensure clinical investigators observe clinical trial protocol or continue to participate in a clinical trial;

address any patient safety concerns that arise during the course of a clinical trial;

address any conflicts with new or existing laws or regulations;

add a sufficient number of clinical trial sites;

timely manufacture sufficient quantities of a product candidate for use in clinical trials; or

raise sufficient capital to fund a clinical trial.
Patient enrollment is a significant factor in the timing of clinical trials and is affected by many factors, including the size and nature of the patient population, the proximity of
patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial, the design of the clinical trial, competing clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ or caregivers’ perceptions
as to the potential advantages of the drug candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies, including any new drugs or treatments that may be approved for the
indications we are investigating.
We could also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, by the data safety monitoring board for such clinical trial or by the FDA or any other
regulatory authority, or if the IRBs of the institutions in which such clinical trials are being conducted suspend or terminate the participation of their clinical investigators and
sites subject to their review. Such authorities may suspend or terminate a clinical trial due to a number of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with
regulatory requirements, including GCPs or the approved clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or clinical trial site by the FDA or other regulatory

authorities resulting in a finding of non-compliance, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a product candidate, changes in
governmental regulations or administrative actions, or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.
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If we experience delays in the completion of, or termination of, any clinical trial of our product candidates for any reason, the commercial prospects of our product candidates
may be harmed, and our ability to generate product revenues from any of these product candidates will be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will
increase our costs, slow down our product candidate development and the future marketing approval process, and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate
revenues. Any of these occurrences may significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the
commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates.

Further, under the new leadership at the HHS under the current administration, layoffs due to the reduction in force initiative and other measures implemented by the
Department of Government Efficiency may impact the normal operations of the FDA as well as other federal agencies. FDA may lack adequate staff and resources to meet
current review, approval, and inspection schedules, which could delay our anticipated timelines. In January 2025, an executive order entitled “Unleashing Prosperity Through
Deregulation”, was issued which calls for at least 10 existing regulations to be repealed whenever an executive department or agency publicly proposes for notice and comment
or otherwise promulgates a new regulation. Recent developments at the FDA include announcement of a new Commissioner’s National Priority Voucher program for
companies supporting certain U.S. national health priorities and interests. To the extent our competitors are selected for this new voucher pilot program and obtain faster
approval than us, our competitive position may be harmed. FDA has also increased its scrutiny of foreign drug manufacturing facilities and other contractors based in China,
especially with respect to the transfer of biological materials, genetic data, and other sensitive data of American patients to parties located in China. It is unclear how our
industry and our clinical programs will be impacted by policies and regulations implemented under the current administration and FDA leadership, or other executive orders.
There is significant uncertainty in the industry and how federal agencies like the FDA will change in the coming years under the current administration. To the extent new
policies and other agency changes lead to disruptions in FDA’s operations, our correspondence and regulatory review processes with the FDA may be materially delayed.

Interim, topline and preliminary data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more data become
available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

From time to time, we may publicly disclose preliminary, interim or topline data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials. These interim updates are based on a preliminary
analysis of then-available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data related to the
particular study or trial. For example, we may report responses in certain patients that are unconfirmed at the time and which do not ultimately result in confirmed responses to
treatment after follow-up evaluations. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have received or
had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the topline results that we report may differ from future results of the same studies or trials, or different
conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once additional data have been received and fully evaluated. Topline data also remain subject to audit and verification
procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, topline data should be viewed with caution
until the final data are available. In addition, we may report interim analyses of only certain endpoints rather than all endpoints. Interim data from clinical trials that we may
complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrolment continues and more patient data become available.
Adverse changes between interim data and final data could significantly harm our business and prospects. Further, additional disclosure of interim data by us or by our
competitors in the future could result in volatility in the price of our common stock.

In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study or trial is typically selected from a more extensive amount of available information.
Investors may not agree with what we determine is the material or otherwise appropriate information to include in our disclosure, and any information we determine not to
disclose may ultimately be deemed significant with respect to future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular product candidate or our
business. If the preliminary or topline data that we report differ from late, final or actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions
reached, our ability to obtain approval for, and commercialize, any of our product candidates may be harmed, which could harm our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.
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Due to our limited resources, we may be forced to focus on a limited number of development candidates which may force us to pass on opportunities that could have a
greater chance of clinical success.

Due to our limited resources and capabilities, we will have to decide to focus on developing a limited number of product candidates. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit
of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to
fail to capitalize on viable commercial product candidates or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on research and development programs and product candidates for
specific indications may not yield any commercially viable products. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product
candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more
advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to such product candidate.

We will need to rely on third parties to conduct our preclinical research and clinical trials and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet
deadlines for the completion of such research or trials.

We plan to rely on third-party CROs to conduct the majority of our preclinical research studies and our clinical trials. In addition, we plan to rely on other third parties, such as
clinical data management organizations, medical institutions and clinical investigators, to conduct those clinical trials. There is no assurance we can obtain the services we need
at commercially reasonable prices or within the timeframes we desires. Even though we will enter into agreements governing these third parties’ activities, we will have limited
influence over their actual performance, and we will control only certain aspects of their activities. Further, agreements with such third parties might terminate for a variety of
reasons, including a failure to perform by the CROs. If there is any dispute or disruption in our relationship with our contractors or if we need to enter into alternative
arrangements, that will delay our product development activities.

Our reliance on third parties for research and development activities will reduce our control over these activities but will not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. For
example, we will remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial. If any
of our CROs’ processes, methodologies or results are determined to be invalid or inadequate, our own clinical data and results and related regulatory approvals could be
adversely affected. Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with GCPs for conducting, recording, and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that data and reported
results are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity, and confidentiality of trial participants are protected. The FDA enforces these GCPs through periodic inspections
of trial sponsors, principal investigators, and clinical trial sites, as well as CROs. If we or our CROs fail to comply with applicable GCPs, the clinical data generated in our
clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving any marketing applications. Upon inspection, the
FDA may determine that our clinical trials did not comply with GCPs. In addition, our clinical trials will require a sufficiently large number of test subjects to evaluate the safety
and effectiveness of a product candidate. Accordingly, if our CROs fail to comply with these regulations or fail to recruit a sufficient number of patients, our clinical trials may
be delayed or we may be required to repeat such clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process.

Furthermore, these third parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. These third parties may not assign as great a priority to
our programs or pursue them as diligently as we would if we were undertaking such programs ourselves. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual
duties, meet expected deadlines, or if the quality of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory
requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our product candidates and will not be able to, or
may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our product candidates.
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We currently have no marketing and sales organization and have no experience in marketing products. If we are unable to establish marketing and sales capabilities or
enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell our product candidates, if approved in the future, we may not be able to generate product revenue.

We currently do not have sales, marketing or distribution capabilities and do not have experience as a company in commercializing products. If we develop internal sales,
marketing, and distribution organization, this would require significant capital expenditures, management resources and time, and we would have to compete with other
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, train and retain marketing and sales personnel.

If we are unable or decide not to establish internal sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities, we expect to pursue collaborative arrangements regarding the sales, marketing,
and distribution of our future products. However, we may not be able to establish or maintain such collaborative arrangements, or if we are able to do so, their sales forces may
not be successful in marketing our future products. Any revenue we receive would depend upon the efforts of such third parties, which may not be successful. We may have
little or no control over the sales, marketing, and distribution efforts of such third parties and our revenue from product sales may be lower than if we had commercialized our
product candidates ourselves. We also face competition in our search for third parties to assist us with the sales, marketing, and distribution efforts of our product candidates, if
approved. There can be no assurance that we will be able to develop internal sales, marketing distribution capabilities or establish or maintain relationships with third-party
collaborators to commercialize any product in the United States or overseas.

If our contract manufacturing organization for materials to be used in our clinical trials fails to supply us with the necessary materials, we may be unable to complete our
clinical trials on a timely basis, if at all.

We have entered into an agreement with a third party to handle the manufacturing supply chain for our product candidate ART27.13. If this manufacturer is unable or unwilling
to provide us with sufficient quantities of our product candidate to meet its demands or fails to meet its standards of quality or other specification or to achieve drug cGMP
compliance, we may not be able to locate any alternative suppliers or enter into commercially reasonable agreements with substitute suppliers in a timely manner or at all.

Changes in methods of product candidate manufacturing or formulation may result in additional costs or delay.

As product candidates progress through preclinical and clinical trials to marketing approval and commercialization, it is common that various aspects of the development
program, such as manufacturing methods and formulation, are altered along the way in an effort to optimize yield and manufacturing batch size, minimize costs and achieve
consistent quality and results. For example, we may introduce an alternative formulation of one or more of our product candidates during the course of our clinical trials. Such
changes carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives.

Any of these changes could cause our product candidates to perform differently and affect the results of clinical trials conducted with the altered materials. This could delay
completion of clinical trials, require the conduct of bridging clinical trials or the repetition of one or more clinical trials, increase clinical trial costs, delay approval of our product
candidates and jeopardize our ability to commercialize our product candidates, if approved, and generate revenue.

We may depend on third parties for clinical and commercial supplies, including, in some instances, a single supplier.

We may depend on third-party suppliers for clinical and commercial supplies, including the active ingredients which are used in our product candidate. These supplies may not
always be available to us at the standards we require or on terms acceptable to us, or at all, and we may not be able to locate alternative suppliers in a timely manner, or at all. If
we are unable to obtain necessary clinical or commercial supplies, its manufacturing operations and clinical trials and the clinical trials of our collaborators may be delayed or
disrupted, and its business and prospects may be materially and adversely affected as a result.

We may rely on a single supplier for certain of its supplies. If this supplier is unable to supply to us in the quantities we require, or at all, or otherwise defaults on its supply

obligations to us, we may not be able to obtain alternative supplies from other suppliers on acceptable terms, in a timely manner, or at all.
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If any of our offices become damaged or inoperable, or we are required to vacate our facilities, our ability to pursue our research and development efforts may be
Jjeopardized.

We currently do not have any manufacturing facilities. We also do not own any properties, laboratories, or manufacturing facilities. However, we have leased office space in
Solana Beach, California and a location near Manchester, United Kingdom. Our facilities could be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or human-made disasters, including
earthquakes, fires, power shortages, nuclear, and radiation accidents, telecommunications failures, financial institution collapses, mass deportations or migrations, water
shortages, famines, pestilence, floods, hurricanes, typhoons, tornadoes, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics, pandemics, such as the COVID-19 global pandemic,
cyber warfare, tariffs, national and international conflict, terrorism, climate change, and other natural or human-made disasters or other business interruptions, for which we are
predominantly self-insured. Any of these may render it difficult or impossible for us to continue our operations. If any of our facilities is inoperable for even a short period of
time, the interruption in research and development may result in harm to our reputation and increased costs, which would have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. Furthermore, it could be costly and time-consuming to repair or replace our facilities and the equipment we use to perform our
research and development work.

Even if we are successful in licensing or developing research programs and/or product candidates, we or our licensors must maintain the intellectual property.

Our commercial success is significantly dependent on intellectual property related to any product candidates and technologies we may either acquire, license, or develop
internally. We are currently the licensee of multiple issued patents and pending patent applications and we intend to license additional technologies from pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies, and research institutions. In addition, we have two U.S. patents, one U.S. patent application, and six foreign patents and three pending foreign
applications directed to a solid-state CBD composition.

Our success depends in large part on our and our licensor’s ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the United States and other countries with respect to our
proprietary technology and product candidates. In some circumstances, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or to
maintain the patents, covering technology or products that we license from third parties. Therefore, we cannot be certain that these patents and applications will be prosecuted
and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. In addition, if third parties who license patents to us fail to maintain such patents, or lose rights to
those patents, the rights we have licensed may be reduced or eliminated.

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and has in recent years been the
subject of much litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability, and commercial value of our and our licensor’s patent rights are highly uncertain. Our and
our licensor’s pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our technology or products or which effectively prevent others from
commercializing competitive technologies and products. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws, including global waivers and patent removals
which are being considered for COVID vaccines, in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our patent protection.
The laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag actual
discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we
cannot be certain that we or our licensor were the first to make the inventions claimed in our owned and licensed patents or pending patent applications, or that we or our
licensor were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. Assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first to file a patent application is generally
entitled to the patent. We may become involved in opposition or interference proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination
in any such proceeding could reduce the scope of, or invalidate our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our technology or product candidates and compete directly
with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize our product candidates without infringing third-party patent rights.
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Even if any owned and/or licensed patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors
from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Our competitors may be able to circumvent our owned or licensed patents by developing
similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its scope, validity or enforceability, and our owned
and licensed patents may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad. Such challenges may result in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated
or held unenforceable, which could limit our ability to stop or prevent us from stopping others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or
limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology and product candidates. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of
new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our owned and licensed patent
portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

The costs and other requirements associated with filing new patent applications, and the ongoing cost of prosecuting pending patent applications and mai ance of i d
patents are material to us. Bearing these costs and complying with these requirements are essential to procurement and mai e of patents integral to our product
candidates.

Legal fees, filing costs, periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or patent applications will come due for
payment periodically throughout the lifecycle of patent applications and issued patents. In order to help ensure that we comply with any required fee payment, documentary
and/or procedural requirements as they might relate to any patents for which we are an assignee or co-assignee, we employ legal help and related professionals as needed to
comply with those requirements. Failure to meet a required fee payment, document production or procedural requirement can result in the abandonment of a pending patent
application or the lapse of an issued patent. In some instances, the defect can be cured through late compliance, but there are situations where the failure to meet the required
deadline cannot be cured. Such an occurrence could compromise the intellectual property protection around a preclinical or clinical product candidate and possibly weaken or
eliminate our ability to protect our eventual market share for that product candidate.

Our ability to research, develop and commercialize any product candidate is dependent on our ability to acquire, maintain or utilize third party contract research facilities
that possess licenses relating to controlled substances and the dispensing of prescription products.

In the United States, the DEA regulates the use of chemicals for medical research and/or commercial development, including the requirement of annual registrations to
manufacture or distribute cannabinoid-based pharmaceuticals. We do not currently conduct manufacturing or repackaging/relabeling of any product candidates in the United
States, however we intend to conduct research on its synthetic cannabidiol (“CBD”) cocrystal drug candidate. Cannabinoids, including naturally occurring cannabinoids, are
currently considered Schedule 1 controlled substances under the Controlled Substances Act of 1970 (“CSA”) by the DEA. We have received guidance from the DEA that if a
product does not contain any quantity of synthetically produced tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) (or any other controlled substance), it is not controlled by the CSA.
Additionally, we have obtained laboratory certifications that its synthetic CBD product candidate, ART12.11 does not contain any levels of THC. We plan to obtain the
required licenses in the territories regulating the possession and supply of cannabinoids and to utilize third party contractors to conduct research who have the required
registrations, however there is no assurance that we will be successful in obtaining the required licenses or that we will be successful identifying or engaging third party
contractors who have the required registrations.

We are conducting a significant portion of our research in the United Kingdom, where licenses to cultivate, possess and supply certain cannabinoids for medical research are
granted by the Home Office on an annual basis. We currently possess the required licenses to do our research in the United Kingdom. Our research must be conducted within
research institutions that also possess required licenses. If we are unable to conduct research at institutions that possess required licenses, or if those licenses are not obtained or
renewed in the future, we may not be in a position to engage in or carry out research and development programs in the United Kingdom. In order to carry out research in
countries other than the United States and the United Kingdom, similar licenses to those outlined above may be required to be issued by the relevant authority in each country.
In addition, we will be required to obtain licenses to export from the U.S. or the UK, and to import into the recipient country. We may also conduct a portion of our research in
Canada, where we are currently collaborating on certain research at the University of Western Ontario, and in Ireland, where we currently have multiple research collaborations
with Trinity College Dublin.

To date, we have not obtained controlled substance import, export, or supply licenses in any countries, except the United Kingdom. We do not have an established track record

of obtaining such required licenses and there is no assurance we will be able to obtain or maintain such licenses in the future, which could restrict our ability to conduct the
research required for development and commercialization of our lead products.
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Any product candidates we develop may be subject to U.S. controlled substance laws and regulations and similar controls in territories outside the U.S. where we are
conducting research. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations, or the cost of compliance with these laws and regulations, may adversely affect the results of our
business operations, both during clinical development and post approval, and our financial condition.

Some of our product candidates may contain controlled substances as defined in the federal CSA in the U.S. Controlled substances are subject to a high degree of regulation
under the CSA, which establishes, among other things, certain registration, manufacturing quotas, security, recordkeeping, reporting, import, export and other requirements that
are administered and enforced by the DEA. The DEA classifies controlled substances into five schedules: Schedule I, II, III, IV or V substances. Schedule I substances by
definition have a high potential for abuse, have no currently “accepted medical use” in the United States, lack accepted safety for use under medical supervision, and may not be
prescribed, marketed or sold in the U.S. Pharmaceutical products approved for use in the United States that comprise or contain a controlled substance are listed as Schedule II,
III, IV or V, with Schedule II substances presenting the highest potential for abuse or dependence and Schedule V substances the lowest relative risk of abuse among such
substances. Schedule I and II drugs are subject to the strictest controls under the CSA, including manufacturing and procurement quotas, security requirements and criteria for
importation. In addition, dispensing of Schedule II drugs by licensed and DEA-registered health care providers is further restricted. For example, they may not be refilled
without a new prescription.

Schedule I controlled substances once approved for medical use in the United States may be placed in Schedules II-V, since marketing approval by the FDA satisfies the
“accepted medical use” requirement. If and when any of our product candidates receive FDA approval, the DEA will make a scheduling determination within ninety days,
taking into account recommendations from the FDA controlled substances staff, in order to place the product in a schedule other than Schedule I so that it may be prescribed to
patients in the US Furthermore, if the FDA, DEA, or any foreign regulatory authority subsequently determines that any approved and commercialized cannabinoid-based
products may have potential for abuse, it may require us to generate more clinical or other data to establish whether or to what extent the substance has an abuse potential,
which could result in a re-scheduling of the product and increase the costs associated with marketing that product. We have received guidance from the DEA that if a product
does not contain any quantity of synthetically produced tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) (or any other controlled substance), it is not controlled under the CSA. Additionally, we
have obtained laboratory certifications that its synthetic CBD product candidate, ART12.11 does not contain any levels of THC. Prior to June 2018, GW Pharmaceuticals was
developing a phytocannabinoid CBD product designated as Schedule I. Since the FDA approval in June 2018 of Epidiolex® in the U.S, the DEA has removed it from the list of
Schedule I chemicals and from the list of controlled substances.

DEA registration and inspection of facilities. Facilities conducting research, manufacturing, distributing, importing or exporting, or dispensing controlled substances must be
registered (licensed) to perform these activities and have the security, control, recordkeeping, reporting and inventory mechanisms required by the DEA to prevent drug loss and
diversion. All these facilities must renew their registrations annually, except dispensing facilities, which must renew every three years. The DEA conducts periodic inspections

of certain registered establishments that handle controlled substances. Obtaining the necessary registrations may result in delay of the importation, manufacturing, or distribution
of any cannabinoid derived products we may develop. Furthermore, failure to maintain compliance with the CSA, particularly non-compliance resulting in loss or diversion, can
result in regulatory action that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The DEA may seek civil penalties, refuse to
renew necessary registrations, or initiate proceedings to restrict, suspend or revoke those registrations. In certain circumstances, violations could lead to criminal proceedings.

State-controlled substances laws. Individual states have also established controlled substance laws and regulations. Though state-controlled substances laws often mirror federal
law because the states are separate jurisdictions, they may separately schedule our product candidates as well. While some states automatically schedule a drug based on federal
action, other states schedule drugs through rulemaking or a legislative action. State scheduling may delay commercial sale of any product for which we obtain federal regulatory
approval and adverse scheduling could have a material adverse effect on the commercial attractiveness of such product. We or our partners must also obtain separate state
registrations, permits or licenses in order to be able to obtain, handle, and distribute controlled substances for clinical trials or commercial sale, and failure to meet applicable
regulatory requirements could lead to enforcement and sanctions by the states in addition to those from the DEA or otherwise arising under federal law.
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Clinical trials. It is possible some compounds we develop may contain cannabinoids, which may be designated as Schedule I substances, therefore, to conduct clinical trials in
the United States prior to approval, each of our research sites must submit a research protocol to the DEA and obtain and maintain a DEA researcher registration that will allow
those sites to handle and dispense our lead products, as applicable, and to obtain the product from our importer. If the DEA delays or denies the grant of a research registration
to one or more research sites, the clinical trial could be significantly delayed, and we could lose clinical trial sites. The importer for the clinical trials must also obtain a Schedule
I importer registration and an import permit for each import. We do not currently conduct any clinical trials, clinical material manufacturing or repackaging/relabelling in the
U.S.; however, we are subject to similar laws and regulations in the UK and other countries where we are conducting a clinical trial and have contracted for clinical material
manufacturing.

Importation. 1f one of our product candidates is approved and classified as a Schedule II or III substance, an importer can import for commercial purposes if it obtains an
importer registration and files an application for an import permit for each import. The DEA provides annual assessments/estimates to the International Narcotics Control Board
which guides the DEA in the amounts of controlled substances that the DEA authorizes to be imported. The failure to identify an importer or obtain the necessary import
authority, including specific quantities, could affect product availability and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In
addition, an application for a Schedule II importer registration must be published in the Federal Register, and there is a waiting period for third party comments to be submitted.
It is always possible a competitor could take this opportunity to make adverse comments that delay the grant of an importer registration.

If one of our product candidates is approved and classified as a Schedule II controlled substance, federal law may prohibit the import of the substance for commercial purposes.
If a product is listed as a Schedule II substance, we will not be allowed to import that drug for commercial purposes unless the DEA determines that domestic supplies are
inadequate or there is inadequate domestic competition among domestic manufacturers for the substance as defined by the DEA. It is always possible the DEA could find that
the active substance in a product, even if it is a plant derived substance, could be manufactured in the U.S. Moreover, Schedule I controlled substances, have never been
registered with the DEA for importation commercial purposes, only for scientific and research needs. Therefore, if any of our future products could not be imported, that
product would have to be wholly manufactured in the United States, and we would need to secure a manufacturer that would be required to obtain and maintain a separate DEA
registration for that activity.

Manufacturing in the United States. If, because of a Schedule II classification or voluntarily, we were to conduct manufacturing or repackaging/relabelling in the United States
for clinical material, our contract manufacturers would be subject to the DEA’s annual manufacturing and procurement quota requirements. Additionally, regardless of the
scheduling of any future product candidates, if the active ingredient in the final dosage form is a cannabinoid and is currently a Schedule I controlled substance it would be
subject to such quotas as these substances could remain listed on Schedule 1. The annual quota allocated to us or our contract manufacturers for the active ingredients in our
products may not be sufficient to complete clinical trials or meet commercial demand. Consequently, any delay or refusal by the DEA in establishing our, or our contract
manufacturers’ procurement and/or production quota for controlled substances could delay or stop our clinical trials or product launches, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and operations.

Distribution in the United States. If any of our product candidates is scheduled as Schedule II or III, we would also need to identify wholesale distributors with the appropriate
DEA and state registrations and authority to distribute the product to pharmacies and other health care providers. We would need to identify distributors to distribute the product
to pharmacies; these distributors would need to obtain Schedule II or III distribution registrations. The failure to obtain, or delay in obtaining, or the loss any of those
registrations could result in increased costs to us. If any of our product candidates is a Schedule II drug, pharmacies would have to maintain enhanced security with alarms and
monitoring systems, and they must adhere to recordkeeping and inventory requirements. This may discourage some pharmacies from carrying either or both products.
Furthermore, state and federal enforcement actions, regulatory requirements, and legislation intended to reduce prescription drug abuse, such as the requirement that physicians
consult a state prescription drug monitoring program may make physicians less willing to prescribe, and pharmacies to dispense, Schedule I products.
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Our product candidates, if approved, may be unable to achieve the expected market acceptance and, consequently, limit our ability to generate revenue.

Even when and if product development is successful and regulatory approval has been obtained, our ability to generate significant revenue depends on the acceptance of our
product candidates by physicians and patients. We cannot assure that any of our product candidates will achieve the expected market acceptance and revenue, if and when we
obtain the regulatory approvals. The market acceptance of any of our potential products depends on a number of factors, including the indication statement and warnings
approved by regulatory authorities in the drug label, continued demonstration of efficacy and safety in commercial use, physicians’ willingness to prescribe the product,
reimbursement from third-party payers such as government health care systems and insurance companies, the price of the product, the nature of any post-approval risk
management plans mandated by regulatory authorities, competition, and marketing and distribution support. Any factors preventing or limiting the market acceptance of our
products could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Results of preclinical studies and earlier clinical trials are not necessarily predictive indicators of future results.

Any positive results from future preclinical testing of our product candidates and potential clinical trials may not necessarily be predictive of the results from Phase 1, Phase 2,
or Phase 3 clinical trials. In addition, our interpretation of results derived from clinical data, or our conclusions based on our preclinical data may prove inaccurate. Frequently,
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials after achieving positive results in preclinical testing and early clinical trials, and
we cannot be certain that we will not face similar setbacks. These setbacks may be caused by the fact that preclinical and clinical data can be susceptible to varying
interpretations and analyses. Furthermore, certain product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials, but nonetheless failed to obtain FDA
approval or a marketing authorization granted by the European Commission. If we fail to produce positive results in our clinical trials for our product candidates, the
development timeline and regulatory approval and commercialization prospects for them and as a result our business and financial prospects, would be materially adversely
affected.

Clinical trials of lipid-signaling modulators and cannabinoid-based product candidates are novel with very limited or non-existing history; we face a significant risk that
the trials will not result in commercially viable products and treatments.

At present, there is only a very limited documented clinical trial history related to lipid-signaling modulators and cannabinoids from which we can derive any scientific
conclusions or prove that our present assumptions for the current and planned research are scientifically compelling. While we are encouraged by the limited results of clinical
trials by others, there can be no assurance that any clinical trial will result in commercially viable products or treatments.
Clinical trials are expensive, time consuming and difficult to design and implement. We, as well as the regulatory authorities, may suspend, delay, or terminate our clinical trials
at any time, may require us, for various reasons, to conduct additional clinical trials, or may require a particular clinical trial to continue for a longer duration than originally
planned, including, among others:

lack of effectiveness of any formulation or delivery system during clinical trials;

discovery of serious or unexpected toxicities or side effects experienced by trial participants or other safety issues;

slower than expected rates of subject recruitment and enrollment rates in clinical trials;

delays or inability in manufacturing or obtaining sufficient quantities of materials for use in clinical trials due to regulatory and manufacturing constraints;

delays in obtaining regulatory authorization to commence a trial, including IRB or Ethics Committee approvals, licenses required for obtaining and using
cannabinoids for research, either before or after a trial is commenced;

unfavorable results from ongoing non-clinical studies and clinical trials;

patients or investigators failing to comply with study protocols;

patients failing to return for post-treatment follow-up at the expected rate;

sites participating in an ongoing clinical study withdraw, requiring us to engage new sites;

third-party clinical investigators decline to participate in our clinical studies, do not perform the clinical studies on the anticipated schedule, or act in ways
inconsistent with the established investigator agreement, clinical study protocol, good clinical practices, and other IRB requirements;

third-party entities do not perform data collection and analysis in a timely or accurate manner or at all; or

regulatory inspections of our clinical studies require us to undertake corrective action or suspend or terminate our clinical studies.
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Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Changes in consumer preferences and acceptance of cannabinoid-derived products and any negative trends will adversely affect our business.

We are substantially dependent on initial and continued market acceptance and proliferation of cannabinoid-derived therapeutic treatments, and specifically ART12.11, our
CBD cocrystal. We believe that as cannabinoid-derived products become more widely accepted by the medical and scientific communities and the public at large, stigma
associated with cannabinoid-derived products and treatments will moderate and, as a result, consumer demand is likely to continue to grow. However, we cannot predict the
future growth rate and size of the market, assuming that the regulatory framework is favorable of which there can be no assurance. Any negative outlook on cannabinoid-
derived products and treatments could adversely affect our business prospects.

In addition, while some may believe that large, well-funded pharmaceutical and other related businesses and industries may have material economic reasons to be in strong
opposition to cannabinoid-based products, we do not believe that it is accurate. Despite the fact that several large pharmaceutical companies are already marketing FDA
approved cannabinoid-based or ECS targeting therapies, it remains relatively uncommon among the global pharmaceutical giants. The pharmaceutical industry is also well-
funded with a strong and experienced lobby presence at both the federal and state levels in the U.S. as well as internationally, that surpasses financial resources of the current
group of research and development companies working on product candidates that modulate the endocannabinoid system. Any effort the pharmaceutical lobby could or might
undertake to halt or delay the development of cannabinoid-based products could have a detrimental impact on our business.

These pressures could also limit or restrict the introduction and marketing of any such cannabinoid-derived product. Adverse publicity regarding misuse or adverse side effects
from cannabinoid-derived products may adversely affect the commercial success or marketability. The nature of our business attracts and may be expected to continue to attract
a high level of public and media interest and, in the event of any related adverse publicity, we may not succeed in monetizing our products and treatments.

it

Our product c may c in controlled substances, the use of which may generate public controversy.

Since our product candidates may contain controlled substances, their regulatory approval may generate public controversy or scrutiny. Political and social pressures and
adverse publicity could lead to delays in approval of, and increased expenses for, our product candidates. These pressures could also limit or restrict the introduction and
marketing of our product candidates. Adverse publicity from misuse or adverse side effects cannabinoid-derived products may adversely affect the commercial success or
market penetration achievable by our product candidates. The nature of our business will likely attract a high-level of public and media interest, and in the event of any resultant
adverse publicity, our reputation may be harmed.

To date, the FDA has only approved one plant-derived cannabinoid product as safe and effective for initial indications related to epilepsy in children. The FDA is aware that
there is considerable interest in the use of cannabinoids to attempt to treat a number of medical conditions. We have received guidance from the DEA that if a product does not
contain any quantity of synthetically produced tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) (or any other controlled substance), it is not controlled under the CSA. Additionally, we have
obtained laboratory certifications that its synthetic CBD product candidate, ART12.11 does not contain any levels of THC. Before conducting testing in humans in the U.S. of a
drug that has not been approved by the FDA, we will need to submit an IND application to the FDA. Failure to comply with applicable U.S. requirements may subject a
company to a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to approve pending new drug applications (“NDAs”), warning letters, product recalls, product
seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties, and criminal prosecution.

Laws and regulations affecting therapeutic uses of cannabinoids are constantly evolving.

The constant evolution of laws and regulations affecting the research and development of cannabinoid-based pharmaceutical products and treatments could detrimentally affect
our business. Laws and regulations related to the therapeutic uses of cannabinoids are subject to changing interpretations. These changes may require us to incur substantial
costs associated with legal and compliance fees and ultimately require us to alter our business plan. Furthermore, violations or alleged violations of these laws could disrupt our
business and result in a material adverse effect on our operations. In addition, we cannot predict the nature of any future laws, regulations, interpretations or applications of laws
and regulations and it is possible that new laws and regulations may be enacted in the future that will be directly applicable and harmful to our business.
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Cannabinoid-based research activities in the pharmaceutical industry may make it difficult to obtain insurance coverage.

In the event that we decide to commence research based on plant-derived cannabinoids in the U.S., obtaining and maintaining necessary insurance coverage, for such things as
workers compensation, general liability, product liability and directors’ and officers’ insurance, may be more difficult and expensive for us to find because of our research
directions utilizing cannabinoids. There can be no assurance that we will be able to find such insurance, if needed, or that the cost of coverage will be affordable or cost-
effective. If, either because of unavailability or cost prohibitive reasons, we are compelled to operate without insurance coverage, we may be prevented from entering certain
business sectors, experience inhibited growth potential and/or expose us to additional risks and financial liabilities.

We face a potentially highly competitive market.

Demand for medical cannabinoid-derived products is dependent on a number of social, political and economic factors that are beyond our control. While we believe that
demand for such products will continue to grow, there is no assurance that such increase in demand will happen, that we will benefit from any demand increase or that our
business, in fact, will ever become profitable.

The emerging markets for cannabinoid-derived products and medical research and development are and will likely remain competitive. The development and commercialization
of pharmaceutical products in general is highly competitive. We compete with a variety of multinational pharmaceutical companies and specialized biotechnology companies,
as well as products and processes being developed by universities and other research institutions. Many of our competitors have developed, are developing, or will develop
products and processes competitive with our product candidates. Competitive therapeutic treatments include those that have already been approved and accepted by the medical
community and any new treatments that may enter the market. For some of our product development directions, other treatment options are currently available, under
development, and may become commercially available in the future. If any of our product candidates is approved for the diseases and conditions we are currently pursuing, they
may compete with a range of therapeutic treatments that are either in development or currently marketed.

Changes in legi or regulation in the health care systems in the United States and foreign jurisdictions may affect us.

Our ability to successfully commercialize our products may depend on how the U.S. and other governments and/or health administrations provide coverage and/or

reimbursements for our products. The ongoing efforts of governments, insurance companies, and other participants in the health care services industry to reduce health care

costs may adversely affect our ability to achieve profitability. For example, in August 2022, Congress passed the IRA, which includes prescription drug provisions that have

significant implications for the pharmaceutical industry and Medicare beneficiaries, including allowing the federal government to negotiate a maximum fair price for certain

high-priced single-source Medicare drugs, imposing penalties and excise tax for manufacturers that fail to comply with the drug price negotiation requirements, requiring

inflation rebates for all Medicare Part B and Part D drugs, with limited exceptions, if their drug prices increase faster than inflation, and redesigning Medicare Part D to reduce

out-of-pocket prescription drug costs for beneficiaries, among other changes. Various industry stakeholders, including pharmaceutical companies, the U.S. Chamber of
Commerce, the Global Colon Cancer Association, and the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America, have initiated lawsuits against the federal government

asserting that the price negotiation provisions of the IRA are unconstitutional. The current administration has issued executive orders focused on decreasing prescription drug

prices, including directing the Secretary of Health and Human Services to establish a mechanism through which American patients can buy drugs directly from manufacturers

who sell at a most-favored-nation price and directing the U.S. Trade Representative and Secretary of Commerce to take action to ensure foreign countries are not engaged in

practices that purposefully and unfairly undercut market prices and drive price hikes in the United States. If HHS begins to set most-favored-nation pricing targets for
prescription drugs, including the use of international pricing reference to set drug prices in the United States, or increases generic and biosimilar drug entry sooner than

expected, that can have a material adverse effect on our industry, ability to set adequate pricing for new drugs to recover R&D costs, ability to attract potential investors and

potential buyers in the future. We cannot predict the full impact of the executive orders focused on reducing prescription drug prices or increasing domestic drug manufacturing

capacity, or other measures that may be implemented by the current administration related to drug pricing, drug supply chain and manufacturing in the United States. Such cost

containment policies and executive orders could substantially and negatively impact the prices we may charge for any approved products, which could harm our valuation,

ability to generate revenue and achieve and sustain profitability. In addition, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act (OBBBA), which was signed into law in July 2025, includes

provisions that will impact the United States healthcare system in various ways, including by cuts to Medicaid and introducing new participant work and eligibility requirements
for Medicaid coverage, which are expected to significantly change the administration and applicability of Medicaid coverage. The OBBBA also expanded exemptions for orphan
designated drugs for Medicare drug price negotiations, which is expected to incentivize development of orphan designated drugs or increase competition for drug development
in orphan diseases or conditions. Although the full impact of the OBBBA on the healthcare system and our business is uncertain, the resulting changes may increase the cost

and complexity of completing clinical development of and launching any product candidates for which we may receive regulatory approval, which could adversely affect our
business and prospects. The impact of ongoing and future judicial challenges as well as future legislative, executive, and administrative actions and agency rules implemented
by the government on us and the pharmaceutical industry as a whole is unclear. Further, uncertainties created by the IRA and additional government constraints on drug pricing

could reduce valuation of companies and decrease funding in new drug development, which can have a material impact on our business. In addition, individual states in the

United States have also become increasingly active in implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement
constraints, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures. A number of states are considering or have recently enacted state

drug price transparency and reporting laws that could substantially increase our compliance burdens and expose us to greater liability under such state laws once we begin
commercialization after obtaining regulatory approval for any of our products. Further, FDA recently authorized the state of Florida to import certain prescription drugs from

Canada for a period of two years to help reduce drug costs, provided that Florida’s Agency for Health Care Administration meets the requirements set forth by the FDA. Other

states may follow Florida. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain
profitability or commercialize our product candidates.

In certain foreign markets, including countries in the European Union (“E.U.”) and the UK, pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. Price

negotiations with governmental authorities may range from 6 to 12 months or longer after the receipt of regulatory marketing approval for a product. Our business could be
detrimentally impacted if reimbursements of our products are unavailable or limited if pricing is set at unacceptable levels.
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We are highly dependent on our key personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully
implement our business strategy.

Our ability to compete in our highly competitive industry depends upon our ability to attract and retain highly qualified managerial, scientific, and medical personnel. We are
highly dependent on our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, President, Treasurer and Secretary, Gregory D. Gorgas. The loss of the services of Mr. Gorgas, and
our inability to find a suitable replacement could result in delays in research and development and product development and significantly harm our business. Additionally,
although we have entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Gorgas, this employment agreement provides for at-will employment, which means that Mr. Gorgas could
leave our employment at any time, with or without notice. We maintain a “key person” insurance policy on the life of Mr. Gorgas.

Competition for skilled personnel in our market is intense and may limit our ability to hire and retain highly qualified personnel on acceptable terms or at all. To induce valuable
service providers to remain at our company, in addition to salary and cash incentives, we have issued stock options and restricted stock awards that vest over time. The value to
service providers of stock options and restricted stock awards that vest over time may be significantly affected by movements in our stock price that are beyond our control and
may at any time be insufficient to counteract more lucrative offers from other companies. Despite our efforts to retain valuable employees, members of our management,
scientific and development teams may terminate their employment with us on short notice. Our success depends on our ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly
skilled junior, mid-level and senior managers and scientific and medical personnel. If we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel, it would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We will need to grow the size and capabilities of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

To execute our business plan, we will need to add other management, accounting, regulatory, and scientific staff. We currently have five employees and utilize approximately
twenty-five consultants and contractors. We will need to attract, retain and motivate a significant number of new additional managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial,
and other personnel, as well as highly skilled scientific and medical personnel, and to expand our capabilities to successfully pursue our research, development, manufacturing
and commercialization efforts and secure collaborations to market and distribute our products. This growth may strain our existing managerial, operational, financial and other
resources. We also intend to add personnel in our research and development and regulatory departments as we expand our clinical trial and research capabilities. Moreover, we
will need to hire additional accounting and other personnel and augment our infrastructure as we continue to grow. Any inability to attract and retain qualified employees to
enable our planned growth and establish additional capabilities or our failure to manage our growth effectively could delay or curtail our product development and
commercialization efforts and harm our business.

We are currently reliant on consultants to oversee critical activities and perform services on behalf of the Company.

Due to our limited financial resources, we have engaged consultants to work on a part-time basis to oversee critical activities and perform services on our behalf. Even if we are
successful in raising additional capital and require those activities and services be performed by full-time employees, there is no guarantee that we will be able to hire our
current consultants or consultants with similar background and experience to oversee those functions or perform services on our behalf. We are also at risk that the consultants
we use may not be able to perform services on a timely basis for us as opposed to other companies who may offer greater compensation or more opportunity than we do, and
that those consultants may eventually decide to accept full-time employment with other companies, some of which could be a direct competitor to us.
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We have incurred losses since inception and cannot assure that we will ever achieve or sustain profitability.

We have incurred losses since inception. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating and net losses for the foreseeable future. To date, we have
financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities. To date our primary activities have been limited to, and our limited resources have been dedicated to,
raising capital, non-clinical and clinical research on our programs, recruiting service providers, negotiating with business partners and licensors of intellectual property, filing
patent applications, and complying with public reporting requirements.

We have never been profitable and do not expect to be profitable in the foreseeable future. We expect our expenses to increase significantly as we pursue our objectives. The
extent of our future operating losses and the timing of profitability are highly uncertain, and we expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses over the
next several years. Our prior and continuing losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital. We cannot assure that
we will ever be able to achieve profitability. Even if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to
become and remain profitable would depress our value and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, license additional programs, establish or maintain
development efforts, obtain regulatory approvals, or continue operations.

If our information technology systems or data, or those of third parties upon which we depend, are compromised, adverse consequences may follow. These consequences
include business operation disruptions, litigation, regulatory investigations or actions, fines and penalties, reputational harm, and financial losses.

The operation of our business is dependent on information technology systems and infrastructure. We may process confidential, and sensitive, including personal data (such as
health-related data), intellectual property, and proprietary business information (collectively, sensitive information) in the ordinary course of our business. It is critical that we
do so in a secure manner to maintain the confidentiality, integrity and availability of such information. We have also outsourced some of our operations (including parts of our
information technology infrastructure) to a number of third-party service providers who may have, or could gain, access to sensitive information. In addition, many of those
third parties, in turn, subcontract or outsource some of their responsibilities to third parties.

Cyberattacks, malicious internet-based activity, and online and offline fraud are increasing in frequency, persistence, sophistication and intensity. These threats come from a
variety of sources, including personnel (such as through theft or misuse), computer “hackers,” and sophisticated nation states. Some actors now engage and are expected to
continue to engage in cyberattacks, including, without limitation, nation-state actors for geopolitical reasons and in conjunction with military conflicts and defense activities.
During times of war and other major conflicts, we and the third parties upon which we rely may be vulnerable to a heightened risk of these attacks, including cyberattacks that
could materially disrupt our systems and operations, supply chain, and ability to produce, sell and distribute our products. We and the third parties upon which we rely may be
subject to a variety of evolving threats, including, but not limited to, personnel misconduct or error, supply-chain attacks, ransomware attacks, malware, malicious code (such as
viruses), denial-of-service attacks, social engineering attacks (including “phishing”), server malfunctions, telecommunication failures, software or hardware failures, loss of data
or other technology assets, adware, earthquakes, fires, floods, and other similar threats. We have been the target of events of this nature and expect them to continue.
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Ransomware attacks, including by organized criminal threat actors, nation-states, and nation-state-supported actors, are becoming increasingly prevalent and severe and can
lead to significant interruptions in our operations, loss of data and income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds. Extortion payments may alleviate the negative impact of a
ransomware attack, but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments due to, for example, applicable laws or regulations prohibiting such payments. Similarly, supply-
chain attacks have increased in frequency and severity, and we cannot guarantee that third parties and infrastructure in our supply chain or our third-party partners’ supply
chains have not been compromised or that they do not contain exploitable defects or bugs that could result in a breach of or disruption to our information technology systems or
the third-party information technology systems that support us and our services. Additionally, many of our employees who work from home at least part of the time, utilizing
network connections outside our locations, which may increase risks to our information technology systems and data. Moreover, the prevalent use of mobile devices by our
employees and third-party service providers to access confidential information increases the risk to our information technology systems and data. Future or past business
transactions (such as acquisitions or integrations) could also expose us to additional cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, as our systems could be negatively affected by
vulnerabilities present in acquired or integrated entities’ systems and technologies.

Any of the previously identified or similar threats could cause a security incident or other interruption. A security incident or other interruption could result in unauthorized,
unlawful, or accidental acquisition, modification, destruction, loss, alteration, encryption, disclosure of, or access to our proprietary or sensitive information. A security incident
or other interruption could disrupt our ability to conduct our business operations and divert significant resources. Though we have insurance that may cover some of the costs
and fees resulting from a cyberattack, data security incident, or data breach, that insurance may not be sufficient to cover all of the costs, fees, losses, damages, fines, and
penalties that may arise from a data security incident.

We may allocate substantial resources and/or adjust our business operations to safeguard against security incidents. Our data privacy and security obligations necessitate the
implementation and maintenance of targeted security protocols and tools. These measures adhere to industry standards and are designed to protect our information technology
systems, as well as our proprietary and sensitive information.

While we have implemented security measures to safeguard our information technology systems and infrastructure, there is no absolute guarantee that these measures will
completely thwart cyberthreats, attacks, security incidents, data breaches, malware, ransomware, and other disruptions that could harm our business. The dynamic nature of
threats and their sophistication means that vulnerabilities may elude detection until after an incident occurs. Despite our diligent efforts to identify and address vulnerabilities,
success is not assured. Additionally, delays in implementing remedial measures to tackle identified vulnerabilities may occur. Furthermore, inadequate internal accounting
controls related to security incidents and cybersecurity could impact the accuracy and timeliness of our financial statements, potentially leading to regulatory scrutiny.

Compliance with data privacy and security obligations, including data breach notification laws in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, may necessitate notifying relevant
stakeholders about security incidents. Such disclosures come at a significant cost, and failure to comply with these requirements could have adverse consequences. If we (or a
third party on whom we rely) encounter a security incident or are perceived to have experienced one, we may face various negative outcomes. These include government
enforcement actions (such as investigations, fines, penalties, audits, and inspections), additional reporting obligations, restrictions on processing sensitive information
(including personal data), litigation (including class-action claims), financial liabilities to third parties, indemnification responsibilities, negative publicity, reputational damage,
diversion of monetary funds, operational disruptions (including data availability), financial losses, and other similar harms. Security incidents and their associated consequences
may disrupt our operations significantly and potentially lead to material program disruptions. For instance, the loss of clinical trial or nonclinical study data for our product
candidates could cause delays in regulatory approval efforts and substantially increase costs due to the additional time and resources required for data recovery, verification, or
potential reproduction.

Our contractual agreements may lack adequate limitations of liability, and even when present, there is no guarantee that these provisions sufficiently shield us from liabilities,
damages, or claims related to our data privacy and security obligations. Additionally, we cannot definitively ascertain that our insurance coverage will adequately protect us or
mitigate liabilities arising from our privacy and security practices. The availability of such coverage on commercially reasonable terms remains uncertain, as does its ability to
cover future claims.
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Our employees or consultants may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory standards and requirements.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other misconduct. Misconduct by our employees or consultants could include intentional failures to comply with FDA
regulations, to provide accurate information to the FDA, to comply with manufacturing standards we have established, to comply with federal and state healthcare fraud and
abuse laws and regulations, to report financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized activities to us. In particular, sales, marketing and business
arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws
and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business
arrangements. Employee misconduct could also involve the improper use of individually identifiable information, including, without limitation, information obtained in the
course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics, but it is not
always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent improper activities may not be effective in controlling unknown or
unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or
regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact
on our business, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions, including civil, criminal or administrative.

We may not successfully manage our growth.

Our success will depend upon the effective management of our growth, which will place a significant strain on our management and on administrative, operational, and
financial resources. To manage this growth, we will be required to expand our facilities, augment our operational, financial and management systems and hire and train
additional qualified personnel. Our inability to manage this growth could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

RISK FACTORS RELATED TO OUR DAT STRATEGY

SOL is a highly volatile asset, and fluctuations in the price of SOL may influence our financial results and the market price of our listed securities.

Our financial results and the market price of our listed securities would be adversely affected, and our business and financial condition would be negatively impacted, if the
price of SOL decreased substantially, including as a result of:

. decreased user and purchaser confidence in SOL, including due to the various factors described herein;

. transactional activities such as (i) activities of highly active retail and institutional users, speculators and holders or (ii) actual or expected significant dispositions of SOL
by large holders, including the expected liquidation of digital assets seized by governments or associated with entities that have filed for bankruptcy protection;
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. negative publicity, media or social media coverage, or sentiment due to events in or relating to, or perception of, SOL or the broader digital assets industry;
. changes in consumer preferences and the perceived value or prospects of SOL;
. competition from other blockchains, centralized exchanges or decentralized exchanges that exhibit comparable or better speed, security, scalability or energy efficiency,

or that feature other more favored characteristics;

. competition from other digital assets that feature other more favored characteristics, are backed by governments, including the U.S. government, or reserves of fiat
currencies, or that represent ownership or security interests in physical assets;

. a decrease in the price of other digital assets, to the extent the decrease in the price of such other digital assets may cause a decrease in the price of SOL or adversely
affect investor confidence in digital assets generally;

. disruptions, failures, unavailability, or interruptions in services of venues for acquiring SOL;

. the filing for bankruptcy protection by, liquidation of, or market concerns about the financial viability of digital asset custodians, trading venues, lending platforms,
investment funds, or other digital asset industry participants;

. transaction congestion and fees associated with processing transactions on the SOL network;

. macroeconomic changes, such as changes in the level of interest rates and inflation, fiscal and monetary policies of governments, trade restrictions and fiat currency
devaluations;

. developments in mathematics or technology, including in digital computing, algebraic geometry and quantum computing, that could result in the cryptography used by

the SOL blockchain becoming insecure or ineffective; and

. changes in national and international economic and political conditions, including, without limitation, federal government policies, trade tariffs and trade disputes, and
the adverse impacts attributable to global conflicts, including those between Russia and Ukraine, China and Taiwan, and in the Middle East.

Moreover, the price of our listed securities has been and is likely to continue to be volatile, and with the adoption of our new cryptocurrency treasury strategy, we expect to see
additional volatility in our stock price. In addition, if investors view the value of our listed securities as dependent upon or linked to the value or change in the value of our SOL
holdings or the availability of SOL to be readily purchased in the United States or elsewhere, the price and/or availability of SOL may significantly influence the market price of
our listed securities. The price of SOL has historically been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile.

SOL and other digital assets are novel assets and are subject to significant legal and regulatory uncertainty.
SOL and other digital assets are relatively novel and are subject to significant legal and regulatory uncertainty, which could adversely impact their price. The application of state
and federal securities laws and other laws and regulations to digital assets is evolving and unclear in certain respects, and it is possible that regulators in the United States or

foreign countries may interpret or apply existing laws and regulations in a manner that may adversely effect the price of SOL or the ability of individuals or institutions such as
us to own or transfer SOL.
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The U.S. federal government, states, regulatory agencies, and foreign countries may also enact new laws and regulations, or pursue regulatory, legislative, enforcement or
judicial actions, that could materially impact the price of SOL or the ability of individuals or institutions such as us to own or transfer SOL. For example, within the past several
years:

. President Donald J. Trump signed an Executive Order instructing a working group comprised of representatives from key federal agencies to evaluate measures that can
be taken to provide regulatory clarity and certainty built on technology-neutral regulations for individuals and firms involved in digital assets, including through well-
defined jurisdictional regulatory boundaries, and this working group is required to submit a report with regulatory and legislative proposals on or before July 22, 2025;

. in January 2025, the SEC announced the formation of a “Crypto Task Force,” which was created to provide clarity on the application of the federal securities laws to the
crypto asset market and to recommend policy measures with respect to digital asset security status, registration and listing of digital asset-based investment vehicles, and
digital asset custody, lending and staking;

. in May 2025, the SEC issued a statement providing its view that certain staking activities on blockchain networks that use protocol staking activities do not involve the
offer or sale of securities under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act;

. in April and August 2024, Uniswap Labs and OpenSea, respectively, publicized that they had each received a Wells Notice from the SEC, notifying them that the SEC
was planning to recommend legal action against them based on allegations that they operate as unregistered securities exchanges;

. in November 2023, Binance Holdings Ltd. (“Binance”) and its then chief executive officer reached a settlement with the U.S. Department of Justice, the Commodity
Futures Trading Commission, the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Asset Control, and the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network to resolve a multi-year
investigation by the agencies and a civil suit brought by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission, pursuant to which Binance agreed to, among other things, pay $4.3
billion in penalties across the four agencies and to discontinue its operations in the United States;

. in November 2023, the SEC filed a complaint against Payward Inc. and Payward Ventures Inc., together known as Kraken, alleging, among other claims, that Kraken’s
crypto trading platform was operating as an unregistered securities exchange, broker, dealer and clearing agency;

. in June 2023, the SEC filed complaints against Binance and Coinbase, Inc. (“Coinbase”), and their respective affiliated entities, relating to, among other claims,
assertions that each party was operating as an unregistered securities exchange, broker, dealer and clearing agency;

. the European Union adopted Markets in Crypto Assets Regulation, a comprehensive digital asset regulatory framework for the issuance and use of digital assets, like
bitcoin;

. in June 2023, the United Kingdom adopted and implemented the Financial Services and Markets Act 2023, which regulates market activities in “cryptoassets;” and

. in China, the People’s Bank of China and the National Development and Reform Commission have outlawed cryptocurrency mining and declared all cryptocurrency

transactions illegal within the country.

While the complaint against Coinbase was dismissed in February 2025, the complaint against Payward Inc. and Payward Ventures Inc. was dismissed with prejudice in March
2025, and the complaint against Binance was dismissed on May 29, 2025, the SEC or other state, federal or foreign regulatory agencies may initiate similar actions in the future,
which could materially impact the price of SOL and our ability to own or transfer SOL. For example, in April 2025, the State of Oregon brought a civil enforcement action
against Coinbase for allegedly selling unregistered securities.

It is not possible to predict whether or when new laws will be enacted that change the legal framework governing digital assets or provide additional authorities to the SEC or
other regulators, or whether or when any other federal, state or foreign legislative bodies will take any similar actions. It is also not possible to predict the nature of any such
additional laws or authorities, how additional legislation or regulatory oversight might impact the ability of digital asset markets to function, the willingness of financial and
other institutions to continue to provide services to the digital assets industry, or how any new laws or regulations, or changes to existing laws or regulations, might impact the
value of digital assets generally and SOL specifically. The consequences of any new law or regulation relating to digital assets and digital asset activities could adversely affect
the market price of SOL, as well as our ability to hold or transact in SOL, and in turn adversely affect the market price of our listed securities.
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Our SOL digital asset holdings may not be recognized as cash or financial assets under Nasdaq listing standards, which could jeopardize our continued listing and
adversely affect the liquidity and market price of our Common Stock.

Our holding SOL digital assets may not be recognized as cash or cash equivalents or as financial assets for purposes of meeting Nasdaq’s continued listing standards, which
could adversely affect our ability to comply with such standards and result in the delisting of our Common Stock.

We have adopted a treasury strategy that includes the acquisition and holding of the digital asset Solana (SOL). Under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP),
digital assets such as SOL are not recognized as cash or cash equivalents and are not considered financial assets for purposes of meeting regulatory capital, liquidity, or working
capital requirements, including those required by Nasdaq for continued listing. As a result, our SOL holdings do not count toward our cash and working capital balances for
purposes of Nasdaq’s continued listing standards.

If the value of our SOL holdings declines significantly, or if we are unable to access sufficient liquidity from other sources, we may be unable to meet our working capital
requirements or Nasdaq’s continued listing standards, which could result in the delisting of our Common Stock. Furthermore, any decrease in the fair value of SOL below our
carrying value could require us to incur a material impairment charge, which may negatively impact our reported stockholders’ equity and our ability to comply with Nasdaq’s
continued listing requirements. The inability to count SOL holdings toward required cash or working capital balances may also limit our flexibility in managing our balance
sheet and maintaining compliance with Nasdaq’s rules, particularly during periods of digital asset price volatility or market instability.

If we are unable to meet Nasdaq’s continued listing standards as a result of our SOL holdings not being recognized as cash or financial assets, our Common Stock could be
delisted, which would have a material adverse effect on the liquidity and market price of our securities.

Our Solana treasury strategy could divert resources and attention away from our biopharmaceutical business and adversely affect our operations.

We have recently adopted a new Solana treasury strategy, pursuant to which we intend to raise significant capital and allocate a substantial portion of the proceeds to
investments in Solana, a blockchain-based digital asset. This strategy represents a material shift from our historical focus on the research, development, and commercialization
of pharmaceutical products targeting lipid-signaling modulation pathways, including the endocannabinoid system. As a result, there is a risk that a significant portion of our
newly raised capital may be allocated to Solana investments rather than to our legacy business operations. Allocating substantial resources to Solana investments may divert
financial and management attention away from our core biopharmaceutical business, potentially resulting in underinvestment in our research and development programs,
clinical trials, regulatory activities, and commercialization efforts. This could impair our ability to advance our product candidates, achieve regulatory approvals, or realize the
anticipated benefits of our existing pipeline. In addition, the performance of our Solana investments is subject to significant volatility and uncertainty, and there can be no
assurance that these investments will generate positive returns or preserve capital. If our Solana investments experience significant losses or fail to perform as expected, our
overall financial condition and liquidity could be adversely affected, which may further limit our ability to fund our legacy operations.

Moreover, the strategic shift in capital allocation may create operational and strategic risks, including the potential for misalignment between our management team’s expertise
and the requirements of managing digital asset investments, as well as possible negative perceptions among our stakeholders, including investors, partners, and regulators,
regarding our commitment to our core biopharmaceutical business. Any neglect or underinvestment in our legacy operations could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
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Our SOL treasury strategy subjects us to enhanced regulatory oversight.

There has been increasing focus on the extent to which digital assets can be used to launder the proceeds of illegal activities, fund criminal or terrorist activities, or circumvent
sanctions on regimes, including those sanctions imposed in response to the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine. While we have implemented and maintain policies
and procedures reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable anti-money laundering and sanctions laws and regulations and take care to only acquire our SOL
through entities subject to anti-money laundering regulation and related compliance rules in the United States. Gregory D. Gorgas, our Chief Executive Officer, currently serves
as our chief compliance officer, and the Company may elect to identify others to serve in the capacity to ensure appropriate oversight and compliance for our digital asset
treasury initiative. If we are found to have purchased any of our SOL from bad actors that have used SOL to launder money or persons subject to sanctions, we may be subject
to regulatory proceedings and any further transactions or dealings in SOL by us may be restricted or prohibited.

We may incur indebtedness or enter into other financial instruments in the future that may be collateralized by our SOL holdings. We may also consider pursuing strategies to
create income streams or otherwise generate funds using our SOL holdings. These types of SOL-related transactions are the subject of enhanced regulatory oversight. These and
any other SOL-related transactions we may enter into, beyond simply acquiring and holding SOL, may subject us to additional regulatory compliance requirements and
scrutiny, including under federal and state money services regulations, money transmitter licensing requirements and various commodity and securities laws and regulations.

Increased enforcement activity and changes in the regulatory environment, including evolving or changing interpretations and the implementation of new or varying regulatory
requirements by the government or any new legislation affecting SOL, as well as enforcement actions involving or impacting our trading venues, counterparties and custodians,
may impose significant costs or significantly limit our ability to hold and transact in SOL.

In addition, private actors that are wary of SOL or the regulatory concerns associated with SOL have in the past taken and may in the future take further actions that may have
an adverse effect on our business or the market price of our listed securities. For example, it is possible that a financial institution could restrict customers from buying our
securities if it were to determine that the value of our securities is closely tied to the performance of SOL, signaling a reluctance to facilitate exposure to virtual currencies.

We plan to use a portion of our capital raised that is not required to provide working capital for our ongoing operations to acquire SOL, which may adversely affect our
financial results and the market price of our securities.

We have applied the net proceeds from recent financings to acquire SOL and may do so again in the future. Net proceeds from the exercise of certain warrants will be used for
general corporate and working capital purposes in an amount required to cure any existing trading market deficiency and/or to maintain an operating budget of twelve months of
cash, with any remaining proceeds available for acquisition of SOL. The price of SOL has been subject to dramatic price fluctuations and is highly volatile. Moreover, digital
assets are relatively novel, and the application of securities laws and other regulations to such assets is unclear in many respects. It is possible that regulators may interpret laws
in a manner that adversely affects the liquidity or value of our SOL holdings. Further, the acquisition of large amounts of SOL may become difficult or more costly, which
would make it more difficult for us to implement our strategy.

Any decrease in the fair value of SOL below our carrying value for such assets could require us to incur an impairment charge, and such a charge could be material to our
financial results for the applicable reporting period, which may create significant volatility in our reported earnings. Any decrease in reported earnings or increased volatility of
such earnings could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our securities. In addition, the application of generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States with respect to digital assets remains uncertain in some respects, and any future changes in the manner in which we account for our SOL holdings could have a material
adverse effect on our financial results and the market price of our securities.

In addition, if investors view the value of our securities as dependent upon or linked to the value or change in the value of our SOL holdings, the price of such digital assets may
significantly influence the market price of our securities.
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Absent federal regulations, there is a possibility that SOL may be classified as a “security.” Any classification of SOL as a “security” would subject us to additional
regulation and could materially impact the operation of our business.

Neither the SEC nor any other U.S. federal or state regulator has publicly stated whether they believe that SOL is a “security,” nor has any court addressed the status of SOL
under the U.S. federal securities laws or similar laws. Therefore, while (for the reasons discussed below) we believe that SOL is not a “security” within the meaning of the U.S.
federal securities laws, and registration of the Company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”) is therefore not required
under the applicable securities laws, a regulator or federal court may determine otherwise. Our belief, even if reasonable under the circumstances, would not preclude legal or
regulatory action based on such a finding that SOL is a “security” which could require us to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act.

We intend to analyze the U.S. federal securities law status of SOL and other cryptocurrencies as guidance and case law evolve. As part of our U.S. federal securities law
analytical process, we take into account a number of factors, including the various definitions of “security” under U.S. federal securities laws and federal court decisions
interpreting the elements of these definitions, such as the U.S. Supreme Court’s decisions in the Howey and Reves cases, as well as court rulings, reports, orders, press releases,
public statements, and speeches by the SEC Commissioners and SEC Staff providing guidance on when a digital asset or a transaction to which a digital asset may relate may be
a security for purposes of U.S. federal securities laws. Our position that SOL is not a “security” is premised, among other reasons, on our conclusion that SOL does not meet the
elements of the Howey test and thus is not a security nor bought and sold in securities transactions. Rather, we believe that SOL is a commodity not subject to the U.S. securities
laws.

We acknowledge, however, that the SEC, a court or another relevant entity could take a different view. Application of securities laws to the specific facts and circumstances of
digital assets is complex, evolving and subject to change. Our conclusion, even if reasonable under the circumstances, would not preclude legal or regulatory action based on a
finding that SOL, or any other digital asset we might hold is a “security.” As such, we are at risk of enforcement proceedings and lawsuits against us or others, which could
result in potential injunctions, cease-and-desist orders, fines and penalties if SOL is determined by a regulatory body or a court to be a security or to be bought and sold in
securities transactions. Such developments would adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects.

Due to the complexity and uncertainty of applying the federal securities and similar laws to digital assets, as well as the fact that different companies doing business in the
digital asset industry take varying approaches to analyzing the security status of digital assets, other companies may from time to time reach different conclusions from us on the
security status of a particular digital asset. Although we anticipate that these differences will narrow over time, if competitors conclude that they can hold digital assets in ways
that we do not permit, then they may have business and revenue opportunities that are not available to us.

If we were deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions likely would make it impractical for us to continue segments of
our business as currently contemplated.

The Investment Company Act is intended to protect investors (for example, by preventing insiders from managing investment companies to their benefit and to the detriment of
public investors), and it requires an issuer primarily engaged in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities to register as an investment company, unless a valid
exemption applies. Under Sections 3(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Investment Company Act, a company generally will be deemed to be an “investment company” if (i) it is or holds
itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities or (ii) it engages or proposes to engage in
the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding, or trading in securities, and it owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the
value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis.

We do not believe that we are an “investment company” as such term is defined in either Section 3(a)(1)(A) or Section 3(a)(1)(C) of the Investment Company Act since we
believe SOL is not an investment security. With respect to Section 3(a)(1)(A), we do not hold ourselves out as being engaged primarily or propose to engage primarily in the
business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities within the meaning of such section. With respect to Section 3(a)(1)(C), we do not own or propose to acquire investment
securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of our total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis. Our stockholders
will not have the regulatory protections provided to investors in investment companies.
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SOL and other digital assets, as well as new business models and transactions enabled by blockchain technologies, present novel interpretive questions under the Investment
Company Act. There is a risk that assets or arrangements that we have concluded are not securities could be deemed to be securities by the SEC or another authority for
purposes of the Investment Company Act, which would increase the percentage of securities held by us for Investment Company Act purposes. The SEC has requested
information from a number of participants in the digital assets’ ecosystem, regarding the potential application of the Investment Company Act to their businesses. For example,
in an action unrelated to the Company, in February 2022, the SEC issued a cease-and-desist order under the Investment Company Act to BlockFi Lending LLC (“BlockFi”), in
which the SEC alleged that BlockFi was operating as an unregistered investment company because it issued securities and also held more than 40% of its total assets, excluding
cash, in investment securities, including the loans of digital assets made by BlockFi to institutional borrowers.

If we were deemed to be an investment company, Rule 3a-2 under the Investment Company Act is a safe harbor that provides a one-year grace period for transient investment

companies that have a bona fide intent to be engaged primarily, as soon as is reasonably possible (in any event by the termination of such one-year period), in a business other
than that of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities, with such intent evidenced by the company’s business activities and an appropriate resolution of its
board of directors. The grace period is available not more than once every three years and runs from the earlier of (i) the date on which the issuer owns securities and/or cash
having a value exceeding 50% of the issuer’s total assets on either a consolidated or unconsolidated basis or (ii) the date on which the issuer owns or proposes to acquire
investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of such issuer’s total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated
basis. Accordingly, the grace period may not be available at the time that we seek to rely on Rule 3a-2; however, Rule 3a-2 is a safe harbor and we may rely on any exemption

or exclusion from investment company status available to us under the Investment Company Act at any given time. Furthermore, maintaining our status as a non-investment
company or reliance on Rule 3a-2 could require us to take actions to dispose of securities and/or acquire other assets, which dispositions or acquisitions could be required to take
place under unfavorable market conditions and could result in the incurrence of losses, and could limit our ability to make certain investments or enter into joint ventures, or
otherwise limit or change our service offerings and operations.

We face risks relating to the custody of SOL, including the loss or destruction of private keys required to access SOL and cyberattacks or other data loss relating to SOL,
including smart contract related losses and vulnerabilities.

We plan to hold our SOL with regulated custodians that have duties to safeguard our private keys. Our custodial services contracts will not restrict our ability to reallocate our
SOL among custodians, and our SOL holdings may be concentrated with a single custodian. In light of the significant amount of SOL we anticipate that we may continually
seek to engage additional custodians to achieve a greater degree of diversification in the custody of our SOL as the extent of potential risk of loss is dependent, in part, on the
degree of diversification. However, multiple custodians may not be available or may utilize similar wallet infrastructure, cloud service providers or software systems, which
could increase systemic technology risk.

If there is a decrease in the availability of digital asset custodians that we believe can safely custody our SOL, for example, due to regulatory developments or enforcement
actions that cause custodians to discontinue or limit their services, we may need to enter into agreements that are less favorable or take other measures to custody our SOL, and
our ability to seek a greater degree of diversification in the use of custodial services would be materially adversely affected. While we will conduct due diligence on our
custodians and any smart contract platforms we may use, there can be no assurance that such diligence will uncover all risks, including operational deficiencies, hidden
vulnerabilities or legal noncompliance.

Any insurance that may cover losses of our SOL holdings may cover none or only a small fraction of the value of the entirety of our SOL holdings, and there can be no
guarantee that such insurance will be maintained as part of the custodial services we have or that such coverage will cover losses with respect to our SOL. Moreover, our use of
custodians exposes us to the risk that the SOL our custodians hold on our behalf could be subject to insolvency proceedings and we could be treated as a general unsecured
creditor of the custodian, inhibiting our ability to exercise ownership rights with respect to such SOL. Any loss associated with such insolvency proceedings is unlikely to be
covered by any insurance coverage we may maintain related to our SOL. The legal framework governing digital asset ownership and rights in custodial or insolvency contexts
remains uncertain and continues to evolve, which could result in unexpected losses, protracted recovery processes or adverse treatment in insolvency proceedings.
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SOL is controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public key and private key(s) relating to the local or online digital wallet in which the SOL is held. While the L1
blockchain ledger requires a public key relating to a digital wallet to be published when used in a transaction, private keys must be safeguarded and kept private in order to
prevent a third party from accessing the SOL held in such wallet. To the extent the private key(s) for a digital wallet are lost, destroyed, or otherwise compromised and no
backup of the private key(s) is accessible, neither we nor our custodians will be able to access the SOL held in the related digital wallet. Furthermore, we cannot provide
assurance that our digital wallets, nor the digital wallets of our custodians held on our behalf, will not be compromised as a result of a cyberattack. The SOL and blockchain
ledger, as well as other digital assets and blockchain technologies, have been, and may in the future be, subject to security breaches, cyberattacks or other malicious activities.

As part of our treasury management strategy, we may engage in staking, restaking, or other permitted activities that involve the use of “smart contracts” or decentralized
applications. The use of smart contracts or decentralized applications entails certain risks including risks stemming from the existence of an “admin key” or coding flaws that
could be exploited, potentially allowing a bad actor to issue or otherwise compromise the smart contract or decentralized application, potentially leading to a loss of our SOL.
Like all software code, smart contracts are exposed to risk that the code contains a bug or other security vulnerability, which can lead to loss of assets that are held on or
transacted through the contract or decentralized application. Smart contracts and decentralized applications may contain bugs, security vulnerabilities or poorly designed
permission structures that could result in the irreversible loss of SOL or other digital assets. Exploits, including those stemming from admin key misuse, admin key
compromise, or protocol flaws, have occurred in the past and may occur in the future. Certain employees or vendors may also be vulnerable to physical or psychological
coercion, commonly referred to as “wrench attacks,” as well as scams and social engineering tactics intended to obtain access to passwords or private cryptographic keys, in
order to then effectuate the unauthorized transfer or theft of digital assets.

Our historical financial statements do not reflect the potential variability in earnings that we may experience in the future relating to our SOL holdings.

Because we only recently initiated our SOL treasury strategy, our historical financial statements do not reflect the potential variability in earnings that we may experience in the
future from holding or selling significant amounts of SOL. The price of digital assets have historically been subject to dramatic price fluctuations and is highly volatile. In
December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update 2023-08, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Crypto Assets (Subtopic 350-60):
Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets (“ASU 2023-08”), which we are required to adopt under GAAP.

ASU 2023-08 requires us to measure our SOL holdings at fair value in our statement of financial position, and to recognize gains and losses from changes in the fair value of
our SOL in net income each reporting period. ASU 2023-08 also requires us to provide certain interim and annual disclosures with respect to our SOL holdings. As a result,
volatility in our earnings may be significantly more than what we experienced in prior periods.

Unrealized fair value gains on our SOL holdings could cause us to become subject to the corporate alternative minimum tax under the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022.

The United States enacted the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (“IRA”) in August 2022. Unless an exemption applies, the IRA imposes a 15% corporate alternative minimum
tax (“CAMT”) on a corporation with respect to an initial tax year and subsequent tax years, if the average annual adjusted financial statement income for any consecutive three-
tax-year period preceding the initial tax year exceeds $1 billion. On September 12, 2024, the Department of Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service issued proposed
regulations with respect to the application of the CAMT.

In connection with the implementation of our SOL treasury strategy, we expect to adopt ASU 2023-08. ASU 2023-08 requires us to measure our SOL holdings at fair value in
our statement of financial position, with gains and losses from changes in the fair value of our SOL recognized in net income each reporting period. When determining whether
we are subject to CAMT and when calculating any related tax liability for an applicable tax year, the proposed regulations provide that, among other adjustments, our adjusted
financial statement income must include this ratable amount in addition to any unrealized gains or losses reported in the applicable tax year.

Accordingly, as a result of the enactment of the IRA and our anticipated adoption of ASU 2023-08, unless the IRA is amended or the proposed regulations with respect to
CAMT, when finalized, are revised to provide relief (or other interim relief is granted), we could become subject to the CAMT in future tax years. If we become subject to the
CAMT, it could result in a material tax obligation that we would need to satisfy in cash, which could materially affect our financial results, including our earnings and cash
flow, and our financial condition. There are, however, significant net operating losses for federal and state tax purposes that may be utilizable to offset these potential future
CAMT liabilities.
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Due to the unregulated nature and lack of transparency surrounding the operations of many SOL trading venues, SOL trading venues may experience greater fraud,
security failures or regulatory or operational problems than trading venues for more established asset classes, which may result in a loss of confidence in SOL trading
venues and adversely affect the value of SOL.

SOL trading venues are relatively new and, in many cases, unregulated. Furthermore, there are many SOL trading venues which do not provide the public with significant
information regarding their ownership structure, management teams, corporate practices and regulatory compliance. As a result, the marketplace may lose confidence in SOL
trading venues, including prominent exchanges that handle a significant volume of SOL trading and/or are subject to regulatory oversight, in the event one or more SOL trading
venues cease or pause for a prolonged period the trading of SOL or other digital assets, or experience fraud, significant volumes of withdrawal, security failures or operational
problems.

The SEC alleged as part of its June 5, 2023, complaint against Binance that Binance committed strategic and targeted “wash trading” through its affiliates to artificially inflate
the volume of certain digital assets traded on its exchange. The SEC has also brought actions against individuals and digital asset market participants alleging that such persons
artificially increased trading volumes in certain digital assets through wash trades, or repeated buying and selling of the same assets in fictitious transactions to manipulate their
underlying trading price. Such reports and allegations may indicate that the SOL market is significantly smaller than expected and that the United States makes up a significantly
larger percentage of the SOL market than is commonly understood. Any actual or perceived wash trading in the SOL market, and any other fraudulent or manipulative acts and
practices, could adversely affect the value of SOL.

Negative perception, a lack of stability in the broader digital currency markets and the closure, temporary shutdown or operational disruption of SOL trading venues, lending
institutions, institutional investors, institutional miners, custodians, or other major participants in the SOL ecosystem, due to fraud, business failure, cybersecurity events,
government-mandated regulation, bankruptcy, or for any other reason, may result in a decline in confidence in SOL and the broader digital currency ecosystem and greater
volatility in the price of SOL. For example, in 2022, each of Celsius Network, Voyager Digital, Three Arrows Capital, FTX, and BlockFi filed for bankruptcy, following which

digital assets significantly declined. In addition, in June 2023, the SEC announced enforcement actions against Coinbase and Binance, two providers of large trading venues for
digital assets, which similarly was followed by a decrease in the market price of digital assets. These were followed in November 2023, by an SEC enforcement action against
Payward Inc. and Payward Ventures Inc., together known as Kraken, another large trading venue for digital assets. While the complaint against Coinbase was dismissed in
February 2025, the complaint against Payward Inc. and Payward Ventures Inc. was dismissed with prejudice in March 2025, and the complaint against Binance was dismissed
on May 29, 2025, the SEC or other regulatory agencies may initiate similar actions in the future. For example, in April 2025, the State of Oregon brought a civil enforcement
action against Coinbase for allegedly selling unregistered securities. As the price of our listed securities may be affected by the value of our SOL holdings, the failure of a major
participant in the digital currency ecosystem could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our listed securities.

The concentration of our SOL holdings could enhance the risks inherent in our SOL treasury strategy.

The concentration of our SOL holdings limits the risk mitigation that we could achieve if we were to purchase a more diversified portfolio of treasury assets, and the absence of
diversification enhances the risks inherent in our SOL treasury strategy. Any future significant declines in the price of SOL would have a more pronounced impact on our
financial condition than if we used our cash to purchase a more diverse portfolio of assets.

The emergence or growth of other blockchains and associated digital assets, including those with significant private or public sector backing, could have a negative impact
on the price of SOL and adversely affect our business.

As a result of our SOL treasury strategy, our assets are concentrated in our SOL holdings. Accordingly, the emergence or growth of digital assets other than SOL may have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition. There are numerous alternative digital assets and many entities, including consortiums and financial institutions, that are
researching and investing resources into private or permissioned blockchains that do not use SOL’s hybrid proof-of-history and proof-of-stake consensus mechanism, or that
use different technical innovations intended to build upon or improve existing consensus mechanisms. For example, in late 2022, the Ethereum network transitioned to a “proof-
of-stake” mechanism for validating transactions that requires significantly less computing power than proof-of-work mining. The Ethereum network has completed another
major upgrade since then and may undertake additional upgrades in the future. If improved mechanisms for validating transactions on blockchains are perceived as superior to
proof-of-stake or hybrid models like Solana's, those digital assets could gain market share relative to SOL.
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Our SOL holdings will be less liquid than our cash and cash equivalents and may not be able to serve as a source of liquidity for us to the same extent as cash and cash
equivalents.

Historically, the cryptocurrency market has been characterized by significant volatility in price, limited liquidity and trading volumes compared to sovereign currencies markets,
relative anonymity, a developing regulatory landscape, potential susceptibility to market abuse and manipulation, compliance and internal control failures at exchanges, and
various other risks inherent in its entirely electronic, virtual form and decentralized network. During times of market instability, we may not be able to sell our SOL at favorable
prices or at all. As a result, our SOL holdings may not be able to serve as a source of liquidity for us to the same extent as cash and cash equivalents.

Further, the SOL we hold with our custodians and transact with our trade execution partners does not enjoy the same protections as are available to cash or securities deposited
with or transacted by institutions subject to regulation by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Securities Investor Protection Corporation.

Additionally, we may be unable to enter into term loans or other capital raising transactions collateralized by our unencumbered SOL or otherwise generate funds using our
SOL holdings, including in particular during times of market instability or when the price of SOL has declined significantly. If we are unable to sell our SOL, enter into
additional capital raising transactions, including capital raising transactions using SOL as collateral, or otherwise generate funds using our SOL holdings, or if we are forced to
sell our SOL at a significant loss, in order to meet our working capital requirements, our business and financial condition could be negatively impacted.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

If we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our products, our competitors could develop and commercialize products and technology similar or identical to
our product candidates, and our ability to successfully commercialize any product candidates we may develop, and our science may be adversely affected.

As with our competitors, our ability to maintain and solidify a proprietary position for our product candidates will depend upon our success in obtaining effective patent claims
that cover such product candidates, their manufacturing processes, and their intended methods of use, and enforcing those claims once granted. Furthermore, in some cases, we
may not be able to obtain issued claims covering our product candidates which are sufficient to prevent third parties, such as our competitors, from either utilizing our
technology or designing around any patent claims to avoid infringing them. Any failure to obtain or maintain patent protection with respect to our product candidates could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Changes in either the patent laws or their interpretation in the U.S. and other countries may diminish our ability to protect our inventions, obtain, maintain, and enforce our
intellectual property rights and, more generally, could affect the value of our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our issued patents. Additionally, we cannot predict
whether the patent applications we or our licensors are currently pursuing will issue as patents in any particular jurisdiction or whether the claims of any issued patents will
provide sufficient protection from competitors or other third parties.

The patent prosecution process is expensive, time-consuming, and complex, and we may not be able to file, prosecute, maintain, enforce, or license all necessary or desirable
patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output in time to
file for or obtain patent protection. Although we enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to confidential or patentable aspects of
our research and development output, such as our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, suppliers, consultants, advisors and other third parties,
any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose such output before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to seek patent protection. If any
licensors are not fully cooperative or disagree with us as to the prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of any patent rights, such patent rights could be compromised or even
lost entirely. If there are material defects in the form, preparation or prosecution of our patents or patent applications, such patents or applications may be subject to challenges
based on invalidity and/or unenforceability. Any of these outcomes could impair our ability to prevent competition from third parties, which may have an adverse impact on our
business.

Patents also have a limited lifespan. In the United States, subject to certain extensions that may be obtained in some cases, the natural expiration of a utility patent is generally
20 years from its earliest effective filing date, and the natural expiration of a design patent is generally 14 years after its issue date, unless the filing date occurred on or after
May 13, 2015, in which case the natural expiration of a design patent is generally 15 years after its issue date. Various extensions may be available; however, the life of a
patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Without patent protection for our products and services, we may be open to competition. Further, if we encounter delays in our
development efforts, the period of time during which we could market our products and services under patent protection would be reduced.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural measures, document submissions, fee payments and other requirements
imposed by government patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other government fees on patents and applications will be due to be paid to the United States Patent and
Trademark Office (the “USPTO”) and various government patent agencies outside of the U.S. over the lifetime of our and our licensors’ patents and applications. The USPTO
and various non-U.S. government agencies require compliance with several procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application
process and after patent issuance. In some cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules. There are
situations, however, in which non-compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in a partial or complete loss of patent rights in the
relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, potential competitors might be able to enter the market in that jurisdiction with similar or identical products or technology, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of our patents and other intellectual property.

We may be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in our patents or other intellectual property as an inventor or co-
inventor. For example, we may have inventorship disputes arise from conflicting obligations of employees, consultants or others who are involved in developing our product
candidates. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging inventorship of inventions covered by our or our licensors’ patents, trade secrets or
other intellectual property. If we or our licensors fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights,
such as exclusive ownership of, or rights or licenses to use, intellectual property that is important to our products. Even if we and our licensors are successful in defending
against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and other employees. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats.

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations, can be expensive or difficult to
enforce, and may not adequately protect our business or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example:

others may be able to make products that are similar to our product candidates or utilize similar science or technology but that are not covered by the claims of the
patents that we may own or license from our licensors or that incorporate certain research in our product candidates that is in the public domain;

we, or our licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent application that we or our
licensors own now or in the future;

we, or our licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our or their inventions;
others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our intellectual property rights;
it is possible that our or our licensors’ current or future pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

issued patents that we or our licensors hold rights to may be held invalid or unenforceable, including as a result of legal challenges by our competitors or other
third parties;

our competitors or other third parties might conduct research and development activities in countries where we or our licensors do not have patent rights and then
use the information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets;

we may not develop additional proprietary product candidates that are patentable;

the patents of others may harm our business if, for example, we or our licensors are found to have infringed those patents or if those patents serve as prior art to
our or our licensors’ patents which could potentially invalidate our or our licensors’ patents; and

we may choose not to file a patent in order to maintain certain trade secrets or know-how, and a third party may subsequently file a patent covering such
intellectual property, which could ultimately result in public disclosure of the intellectual property if the third party’s patent application is published or issues to a
patent.

Should any of these events occur, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Intellectual property litigation could cause us to spend substantial resources and distract our personnel from their normal responsibilities.

There is a great deal of litigation concerning intellectual property in our industry, and we or our licensors could become involved in litigation. Even if resolved in our or our
licensors’ favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us or our licensors to incur significant expenses and could distract our
technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim
proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our securities.
Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce our resources available for development activities. We may not have sufficient
financial or other resources to adequately conduct or defend against such litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or
proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially greater financial resources. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent
litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to compete in the marketplace.
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We may be subject to claims that our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.

Some of our employees and consultants were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential
competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that
we or our employees have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such employee’s former employer. Litigation
may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property
rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR SECURITIES
Our Common Stock may be delisted from the Nasdaq Capital Market if we cannot maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements.

In order to maintain our listing on Nasdaq, we are required to comply with the Nasdaq requirements, which include maintaining a minimum bid price and a minimum public
float. For example, we are required to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share, and our Common Stock traded below that threshold regularly during and prior to our
fiscal year ended August 31, 2021. On September 13, 2021, we received a notice from Nasdaq stating that we were not in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) (the
“Minimum Bid Price Rule”) because our Common Stock failed to maintain a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 for 30 consecutive business days. This notice had no
immediate effect on the Nasdaq listing or trading of our Common Stock.

In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we were afforded an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until March 14, 2022, to regain compliance with the
Minimum Bid Price Rule. We were then afforded a second grace period of an additional 180 calendar days, or until September 12, 2022, to regain compliance with the
Minimum Bid Price Rule. On August 24, 2022, we received a formal notification via letter from Nasdaq confirming that we had regained compliance with the minimum bid
price requirement under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2), which requires that our Common Stock maintain a minimum bid price of at least $1.00 per share, and that the matter
is now closed.

On April 23, 2025, we received a notice from Nasdaq stating that we were not in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) (the “Minimum Bid Price Rule”) because our
Common Stock failed to maintain a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 for 30 consecutive business days. This notice had no immediate effect on the Nasdaq listing or trading
of our Common Stock. In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we will be afforded an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until October 20, 2025, to regain
compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Rule.

Additionally, as of March 31, 2025 we were not in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550 (b)(1) which requires minimum stockholders’ equity of $2.5 million. Our
stockholders’ equity as of that date was $0.7 million. On May 22, 2025 we received notice from Nasdaq of this deficiency. In accordance with the notice, we submitted a plan
within 45 calendar days of the notice to regain compliance. If the plan is accepted, Nasdaq can grant an extension of up to 180 calendar days from the date of the notice to
achieve compliance. The Company has not yet received a response from Nasdaq regarding the submitted plan.

If we are unable to maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements in the future, delisting from the Nasdaq Capital Market or any Nasdaq market could make
trading our Common Stock more difficult for investors, potentially leading to declines in our share price and liquidity. In addition, without a Nasdaq market listing,
stockholders may have a difficult time getting a quote for the sale or purchase of our stock, the sale or purchase of our stock would likely be made more difficult and the trading
volume and liquidity of our stock could decline. Delisting from Nasdaq could also result in negative publicity and could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional
capital. The absence of such a listing may adversely affect the acceptance of our Common Stock as currency or the value accorded by other parties. Further, if we are delisted,
we would also incur additional costs under state blue sky laws in connection with any sales of our securities. These requirements could severely limit the market liquidity of our
Common Stock and the ability of our stockholders to sell our Common Stock in the secondary market. If our Common Stock is delisted by Nasdaq, our Common Stock may be
eligible to trade on an over-the-counter quotation system, such as the OTCQB market, where an investor may find it more difficult to sell our stock or obtain accurate quotations
as to the market value of our Common Stock. We cannot assure you that our Common Stock, if delisted from Nasdaq, will be listed on another national securities exchange or
quoted on an over-the counter quotation system. If our Common Stock is delisted, it may come within the definition of “penny stock” as defined in the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and would be covered by Rule 15g-9 of the Exchange Act. That Rule imposes additional sales practice requirements on broker-
dealers who sell securities to persons other than established customers and accredited investors. For transactions covered by Rule 15g-9, the broker-dealer must make a special
suitability determination for the purchaser and receive the purchaser’s written agreement to the transaction prior to the sale. Consequently, Rule 15g-9, if it were to become
applicable, would affect the ability or willingness of broker-dealers to sell our securities, and accordingly would affect the ability of stockholders to sell their securities in the
public market. These additional procedures could also limit our ability to raise additional capital in the future.
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If we sell securities in future financings our stockholders may experience immediate dilution and, as a result, our stock price may decline.

We may from time to time issue additional shares of Common Stock at a discount from the current market price of our Common Stock, including potential sales of our equity to
an institutional investor as described above. As a result, our stockholders would experience immediate dilution upon the purchase of any of our securities sold at such discount.
In addition, as opportunities present themselves, we may enter into financing or similar arrangements in the future, including the issuance of debt securities, preferred stock or
Common Stock. If we issue Common Stock or securities convertible into Common Stock, our common stockholders could experience additional dilution and, as a result, our
stock price may decline.

The price of our securities may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment. Further, we do not know whether an active, liquid and orderly trading market
will continue for our securities or what the market price of our securities will be and as a result it may be difficult for you to sell your shares of our securities.

Although our securities are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market, an active, liquid, and orderly trading market for our securities may not continue, and you may not be able to
sell your shares quickly or at the market price if trading in shares of our securities is not active. Further, an inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital by selling
shares of our securities and may impair our ability to enter into strategic partnerships or acquire companies or products by using shares of our securities as consideration, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, the trading price of our securities is likely to be highly volatile
and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control, including limited trading volume.

We are obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to invest $250,000 of the net proceeds from the Private Placement to purchase Solana, a cryptocurrency, the price
of which has been, and will likely continue to be, highly volatile.

Under the Purchase Agreement, we are obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to use $250,000 of the net proceeds from the Private Placement to purchase Solana, a
cryptocurrency. Solana is a highly volatile asset. Solana does not pay interest, but if management determines to stake the Solana tokens in treasury, certain rewards can be
earned on Solana. The ability to generate a return on investment from the purchase of Solana will depend on whether there is appreciation in the value of Solana. Future
fluctuations in Solana’s trading prices may result in our converting Solana into cash with a value substantially below the value at which such Solana was purchased.

Any Solana we purchase may be less liquid than our existing cash and cash equivalents and may not be able to serve as a source of liquidity for us to the same extent as
cash and cash equivalents.

Historically, the crypto markets have been characterized by: significant volatility in price, limited liquidity and trading volumes compared to sovereign currencies markets;
relative anonymity; a developing regulatory landscape; potential susceptibility to market abuse and manipulation; compliance and internal control failures at exchanges; and
various other risks inherent in its entirely electronic, virtual form and decentralized network. During times of market instability, we may not be able to sell our Solana at
favorable prices or at all. Further, Solana which we may hold with a custodian does not enjoy the same protections as are available to cash or securities deposited with or
transacted by institutions subject to regulation by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Securities Investor Protection Corporation. If we are unable to sell our
Solana or otherwise generate funds using our Solana holdings, or if we are forced to sell our Solana at a significant loss, in order to meet our working capital requirements, our
business and financial condition could be negatively impacted.

Any market activity involving short selling or other market making activities could result in negative impact to the market price for our Common Stock.

Short selling is a method used to capitalize on an expected decline in the market price of a security and could depress the price of our Common Stock, which could further
increase the potential for future short sales. Sales of our Common Stock could encourage short sales by market participants, which could create negative market momentum.
Continued short selling may bring about a temporary, or possibly long term, decline in the market price of our Common Stock. The Company cannot predict the size of future
issuances or sales of Common Stock or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of Common Stock will have on its market price or the activities of short sellers. Sales
involving significant amounts of Common Stock, including issuances made in the ordinary course of the Company’s business, or the perception that such sales could occur, may
materially and adversely affect prevailing market prices of the Common Stock.
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A sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock may cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large
number of shares of our common stock intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.

Many of the outstanding shares of Common Stock are “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 144. As restricted securities, these shares may be resold only pursuant
to an effective registration statement or under the requirements of Rule 144 or other applicable exemptions from registration under the Securities Act and as required under
applicable state securities laws. Rule 144 provides, in part, that a non-affiliate who has held restricted securities for a period of at least six months may sell their shares of
Common Stock. Under Rule 144, affiliates who have held restricted securities for a period of at least six months may, under certain conditions, sell every three months, in
brokerage transactions, a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of 1% of a company’s outstanding shares of Common Stock or the average weekly trading volume
during the four calendar weeks prior to the sale. A sale under Rule 144 or under any other exemption from the Securities Act, if available, or pursuant to subsequent
registrations of our shares of Common Stock, may have a depressive effect upon the price of our shares of Common Stock.As of August 12, 2025, we had 1,321,552
outstanding shares of common stock. All outstanding shares of common stock are available for sale in the public market, subject to limitations under Rule 144 with respect to
affiliates of our company.

On June 24, 2025, we entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with the purchasers named therein (the “Purchasers”), for the private placement
(the “Private Placement”) of (i) 136,843 shares (the “Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock™), at $5.82 per share, (ii) pre-
funded warrants to purchase 93,180 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.001 per Share (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”), at $5.819 per Pre-Funded Warrant, (iii)
warrants to purchase 460,046 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.82 per share (the “$5.82 Warrants™), and (iv) warrants to purchase 230,023 shares of Common
Stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per share (the “$10.00 Warrants”). The Pre-Funded Warrants, the $5.82 Warrants and the $10.00 Warrants are collectively referred to
herein as the “Warrants” and the shares issuable upon such Warrants, the “Warrant Shares.” On July 11, 2025, we filed a registration statement on Form S-1 to register the offer
and resale of the shares sold in the private placement, and on July 17, 2025, that registration statement was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

On July 18, 2025, we entered into an At-The-Market Offering Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with R.F. Lafferty & Co., Inc. (“R.F. Lafferty”) under which we may offer
and sell up to $6.5 million of shares of our common stock from time to time through an “at the market” offering program under which R.F. Lafferty will act as sales agent. The
shares will be issued pursuant to the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form S-3, including the prospectus supplement contained therein, which was declared effective
by the SEC on July 14, 2023. As of August 12, 2025, the Company had $6.5 million of capacity remaining under the Sales Agreement.

We could be subject to securities class action litigation.
In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. This risk is especially relevant for
us because pharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a

diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could harm our business, operating results, or financial condition.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of
money available to us.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Nevada law. In addition, our amended
and restated bylaws and our indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and officers provide for the following:

We will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to the fullest extent
permitted by Nevada law. Nevada law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe
such person’s conduct was unlawful.

We will also indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law.

We are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to any indemnitee in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such indemnitee shall undertake to
repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.

The rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our directors,
officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons.
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Shares of our Common Stock that have not been registered under federal securities laws are subject to resale restrictions imposed by Rule 144, including those set forth in
Rule 144(i) which apply to a former “shell company.”

Our stock may experience limited trading volume. Many of our securities will be subject to restrictions on transfer under the Securities Act and may not be transferred in the
absence of registration or the availability of a resale exemption. In particular, in the absence of registration, such securities cannot be resold to the public until certain
requirements under Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act have been satisfied, including certain holding period requirements and other requirements applicable to
companies that have previously been a shell company. An investor may be unable to sell such securities at the time or at the price or upon such other terms and conditions as the
investor desires, and the terms of such sale may be less favorable than might be obtainable because of a limited market, which may never develop.

Until December 2017, we were deemed a “shell company” under applicable SEC rules and regulations because we had no or nominal operations and either no or nominal
assets, assets consisting solely of cash and cash equivalents, or assets consisting of any amount of cash and cash equivalents and nominal other assets. Pursuant to Rule 144
promulgated under the Securities Act, sales of the securities of a former shell company, such as us, under that rule are not permitted (i) until at least 12 months have elapsed
from the date on which our Current Report on Form 8-K reflecting our status as a non-shell company, was filed with the SEC; and (ii) unless at the time of a proposed sale, we
are subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and have filed all reports and other materials required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Exchange Act, as applicable, during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that we were required to file such reports and materials), other than Form 8-K
reports. We are currently subject to the reporting rules under the Exchange Act and expect to remain subject to the reporting requirements under the Exchange Act. However,

sales may not be made under Rule 144 unless we are in compliance with other requirements of Rule 144. Further, it will be more difficult for us to raise funding to support our
operations through the sale of debt or equity securities unless we agree to register such securities under the Securities Act, which could cause us to expend significant time and
cash resources. Additionally, our previous status as a shell company could also limit our use of our securities to pay for any acquisitions we may seek to pursue in the future
(although none are currently planned). The lack of liquidity of our securities could cause the market price of our securities to decline or make it difficult to establish a trading
market in our shares.

Certain of the possible adjustments to the warrants may result in a deemed distribution from us to a beneficial owner of a warrant that will be taxable, even though the
beneficial owner does not receive a corresponding distribution of cash.

The exercise terms of the warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances. An adjustment to the number of shares of Common Stock that will be issued on the exercise of the
warrants or an adjustment to the exercise price of the warrants (or, in certain circumstances, a failure to make adjustments) may be treated as a taxable deemed distribution to a
holder of the warrants, even if such holder does not receive any cash or other property in connection with the adjustment. Holders of the warrants should consult their
professional tax advisors regarding the proper treatment of any adjustments to the warrants.

We do not plan to declare or pay any dividends to our stockholders in the near future.

We have not declared any dividends in the past, and we do not intend to distribute dividends in the near future. The declaration, payment and amount of any future dividends
will be made at the discretion of our Board and will depend upon, among other things, the results of operations, cash flows and financial condition, operating and capital
requirements, and other factors as our Board considers relevant. There is no assurance that future dividends will be paid, and if dividends are paid, there is no assurance with
respect to the amount of any such dividend.

We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public company, we will continue to incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, which will
require, among other things, that we file with the SEC, annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, as well as rules subsequently adopted by the SEC and the Nasdaq to implement provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, impose significant requirements on public
companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. Further, in July
2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) was enacted. There are significant corporate governance and executive
compensation related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to adopt additional rules and regulations in these areas such as “say on pay” and proxy access.
Stockholder activism, the current political environment and the current high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and
disclosure obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate.
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If the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market divert the attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The increased costs will decrease our net income or increase our net loss and may require us to reduce
costs in other areas of our business or increase the prices of our products or services. For example, we expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more
expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. We cannot predict
or estimate the amount or timing of additional costs we may incur to respond to these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make it more difficult for us to
attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our Board, our board committees, or as executive officers.

Future changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse unexpected financial reporting fluctuations and affect reported results of operations.

A change in accounting standards or practices can have a significant effect on our reported results and may even affect our reporting of transactions completed before the change
is effective. New accounting pronouncements and varying interpretations of accounting pronouncements have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to existing rules or
the questioning of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct business.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not be effective to ensure that we make all required disclosures.

As a public reporting company, we are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to reasonably
assure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal
controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake.
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by an unauthorized override of the controls.

Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements or insufficient disclosures due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Anti-takeover provisions in our amended and restated articles of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions in Nevada law, might discourage, delay, or prevent a
change of control of our company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of our securities.

Our amended and restated articles of incorporation, bylaws and Nevada law contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult or discouraging an
acquisition deemed undesirable by our Board. Our corporate governance documents include provisions:

classifying our board of directors (“Board”) into three classes of directors with staggered terms;

limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors, including provisions that require us to advance payment for defending pending or
threatened claims;

limiting the ability of our stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings and to take action by written consent in lieu of a meeting;

requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at meetings of our stockholders and for nominations of candidates for election to
our Board;

controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of board and stockholder meetings; and

limiting the determination of the number of directors on our board and the filling of vacancies or newly created seats on the board to our Board then in office.
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These provisions, alone or together, could delay hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our management.

As a Nevada corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Nevada corporate law, including Section 78.411, et seq. of the Nevada Revised Statutes, which prohibits a
publicly-held Nevada corporation from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder, generally a person which together with its affiliates owns, or within
the last two years has owned, 10% of our voting stock, for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless
the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. Such restriction only applies if the transaction by which the person became an interested stockholder was not
approved by the Company’s board of directors

The existence of the foregoing provisions and anti-takeover measures could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our Common Stock.
They could also deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood that our stockholders could receive a premium for their Common Stock in an
acquisition.

QOur business is subject to changing regulations related to corporate governance and public disclosure that have increased both our costs and the risk of noncompliance.

Because our Common Stock and our public warrants (which expired June 17, 2024) have been and are publicly traded, we are subject to certain rules and regulations of federal,
state, and financial market exchange entities charged with the protection of investors and the oversight of companies whose securities are publicly traded. These entities,
including the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the SEC and Nasdaq, have issued requirements and regulations and continue to develop additional regulations and
requirements in response to corporate scandals and laws enacted by Congress, most notably the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Our efforts to comply with these regulations have
resulted in, and are likely to continue resulting in, increased general and administrative expenses and diversion of management time and attention from product development
activities to compliance activities. Because new and modified laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations in many cases due to their lack of specificity,
their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This evolution may result in continuing uncertainty
regarding compliance matters and additional costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to our disclosure and governance practices.

We are a smaller reporting company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies will make our securities
less attractive to investors.

For as long as we continue to be a smaller reporting company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public
companies that are not smaller reporting companies, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation and our periodic reports and proxy statements. We cannot predict if investors will find our securities less
attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our securities,
and our stock price may be more volatile.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price and trading volume could
decline.

The trading market for our securities will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any
control over these analysts. There can be no assurance that analysts will cover us or provide favorable or fair-balanced coverage. If one or more of the analysts who cover us
downgrade our stock or change their opinion of our stock, our share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to
regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

There were no sales of unregistered securities by us during the second quarter of 2025 that were not previously reported in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current
reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers

During our last fiscal quarter, none of our directors or officers, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f), adopted and/or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule

10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as defined in Regulation S-K Item 408.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Filing Filed
Number Description Form File No. Date Herewith
3.1 Articles of Incorporation. as amended 10-Q 001-38951 05/11/2023
32 Amended and Restated Bylaws 8-K 001-38951 04/21/2023
At-The-Market Offering Agreement. dated July 18, 2025. between Artelo Biosciences. Inc.
10.1 and R.F. Lafferty & Co., Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s 8-K 001-38951 07/18/2025
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 18, 2025)
102 Securities Purchase Agreenr}ent= dated June 24, 2025, between Artelo Biosciences. Inc. and 8K 001-38951 06/26/2025
the Purchasers named therein
103 Form of Subiscription Agreement by and between Artelo Biosciences Inc. and the purchasers 8K 001-38951 05/01/2025
named therein
104 Form of Pre-Funded Warrant 8-K 001-38951 06/26/2025
10.5 Form of $5.82 Warrant 8-K 001-38951 06/26/2025
10.6 Form of $10.00 Warrant 8-K 001-38951 06/26/2025
10.7 Form of Convertible Note 8-K 001-38951 05/01/2025
10.8 Form of Warrant 8-K 001-38951 05/01/2025
31.1 Section 302 Certification *
32.1 ** Section 906 Certification *
101. INS Inline XBRL Instance Document
101. SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101. CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101. DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101. LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101. PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover page Interactive Data File (embedded with the Inline XBRL document)

*x The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, is deemed furnished and not filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Artelo Biosciences, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language
contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

Artelo Biosciences, Inc.
(Registrant)

Dated: August 13,2025 /s/ Gregory D. Gorgas
Gregory D. Gorgas
President, Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer,
Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Gregory D. Gorgas, certify that:

L.

2.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Artelo Biosciences, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 13, 2025

/s/ Gregory D. Gorgas

Gregory D. Gorgas

President, Chief Executive Officer,

Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer,

Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Artelo Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30,
2025, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Gregory D. Gorgas, Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer,hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that, to my knowledge:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: August 13,2025

/s/ Gregory D. Gorgas

Gregory D. Gorgas

President, Chief Executive Officer,

Chief Financial Officer,

Treasurer and Director (Principal Executive Officer,
Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer)




